








































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 
TO:  Board of Directors                                        AGENDA NO. 7.A. 
       
FROM: Matthew McElhenie, General Manager 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Meeting Date: July 10, 2025                   Subject: General Manager’s Report 
 
The District continues to provide water, wastewater collection and treatment, emergency response, facilities, and 
administrative services. The following is an update on some of our ongoing projects and activities. 
 
I want to take a moment to recognize and celebrate the hard work and dedication of our Cambria Community 
Services District team — the individuals who serve our community every day with passion, professionalism, 
kindness, and a deep sense of responsibility. 
 
Whether delivering clean, reliable water to homes and businesses, maintaining our facilities, maintaining parks 
and recreational spaces, keeping us safe through fire and emergency services, or addressing community 
inquiries and concerns, our team is there — often behind the scenes — making a tremendous, positive 
difference. 
 
These employees repair water lines in the middle of the night, respond to service calls in difficult conditions, 
manage financial operations with careful oversight, oversee community programs, keep our facilities spotless 
and well-functioning, and make sure our community’s health, safety, and well-being are always a top priority. 
They do all of this with a strong spirit of cooperation, a deep understanding of the community’s needs, and a 
genuine care for the people they serve. Our team’s expertise, patience, perseverance, and loyalty enable 
Cambria to be a wonderful place to call home. 
 
I am truly proud to work alongside these talented, devoted individuals. Please join me in extending a heartfelt 
“Thank you” to all the CCSD employees for their continued service, kindness, professionalism, and significant 
contributions to our community. 

 
 
Meet the General Manager 
On Wednesday, July 16, 2025, from 8:30 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., I will be working out of the Cambria Veterans' 
Memorial Hall and would love to meet you and hear your thoughts on everything, Cambria. We will provide 
coffee and snacks, and as always, I welcome your feedback and ideas.  
 

245



 
 

 

Cambria Community Services District Public Record Requests 
Since June 5, 2025, the Cambria Community Services District has received seven Public Records Act (PRA) 
requests. 
 

1. 6/7/2025 Carole Deem: This missive from me was not about the 2025 weed abatement program. It was 
an erroneous charge made against me for 2024. My house sits on my lot and the 2024 pictures that were 
sent to me were clearly of the lot next door, complete with downed trees. If you had pictures of my lot 
you would see a geodesic dome. I took into the fire dept my actual lot number so that a correction could 
be made.This is not my error. Please charge the correct person who owns that lot and refund my money. 
My lot number is 024 281 015. 

 
6/11/2025 District Response: APN 024-281-015 is an improved parcel and is not currently included in the 
Cambria CSD Fire Department's Fire Hazard Fuel Reduction Program (FHFRP). As a result, there are no 
documents responsive to your request. 
 

2. 6/8/2025 Susan Chase: I need a copy of the EKG the responding paramedics took of my heart. I called 
911 on June 5th at 7;32 am and 8;38 am. My cardiologist would like to see a copy.  
 

6/16/2025 District Response: The requested incident report is attached. 
 

3. 6/12/2025 Elizabeth Bettenhausen: Please send me any and all communications between CCSD and the 
satellite company (or company that uses satellites) used to determine the amount of water unaccounted 
for by the district in the bimonthly billing summary. This was mentioned by the utilities manager in the 
meeting on June 12, 2025, in response to my public comment. 

 
6/18/2025 District Response: The requested communications are attached. 
 

4. 6/14/2025 Roy Maclean: Hello, Could you please email me the photos and all records/descriptions of the 
work done that appears on my 2024 Cambria Fire Department Fire Hazard Fuel Reduction Program Bill? 
(Date: 8/20/24 APN #: 023-322-025) Thank you. 

 
6/16/2025 District Response: You submitted a public records request on January 27, 2025, and the District 
provided its response on January 30, 2025. That response is attached here for your reference. The same photos 
and invoice that were previously provided in January are uploaded to the link below. 

 Maclean PRR 
 

5. 6/20/2025 Raymond Abelin: Fire Department report of fallen dead tree onto 1692 Berwick Dr. from rear-
facing neighboring lot.  

 
6/23/2025 District Response: The requested incident report is attached. 
 

6. 6/30/2025 Lawrence Leavitt: I am a part-time resident and small tourism business owner in Cambria – 
as such I have great interest in the Facilities and Resources Budget.  I have reviewed the 2025-2026 
preliminary budget.  I also note that both preliminary and final historical budgets are available through 
the website.  However, I do not see any Fund by Fund actual financial data.  May I inquire where I may 
obtain actual financial data for F&R for fiscals 24 and 25 in order to compare it to budgets for those years 
and to the fiscal 26 preliminary budget. 
 

7. 7/1/2025 Jim Townsend: It's great to see that the Stuart St Tank Replacement project is out to bid. I'm 
wondering what the cost estimate is for the project. I looked around the website, and was unable to locate 

246

https://cambriacsd-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/hdodson_cambriacsd_org/El6MjI89fj1HiIAl2dA0tbIBGHgA3JgwehlBzYMLuVE4CA


 
 

 

an Engineer's Estimate.  I'm thinking that the effort will likely cost more than the $650K remaining in the 
CIP (from page 72 of preliminary budget posted), and I'm curious where any additional funding will come 
from. Given that the project schedule shows award of the contract less than two weeks after bids are 
opened, I'm assuming you have that figured out. If you could please forward the Engineer's Estimate to 
me, I would be very appreciative. Please consider this a public records request. Great job in finally getting 
this out the door! 

 
Coming Soon: EyeOnWater for Cambria Residents 
 
Track your water use. Catch leaks early. Save money. Help conserve. 
 
The Cambria Community Services District (CCSD) is rolling out EyeOnWater, a free, easy-to-use digital 
platform that will allow customers to monitor their water use in near real-time. This tool is part of our upgrade 
to Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI), a smart system that automatically sends water usage data from 
your meter to the District securely and accurately. 
Once the system is fully up and running, CCSD customers can view their water use in 15-minute intervals, 
detect leaks quickly, set usage goals, and more—all from a smartphone or computer. 
 
What EyeOnWater Will Let You Do: 
 

• See Your Usage in Detail 
View your water use by the hour, day, week, or month. Interactive graphs make it easy to spot patterns 
or high-use days. 

• Get Leak Alerts Instantly 
Suppose EyeOnWater detects continuous or unusually high usage (like from a running toilet or broken 
irrigation line). In that case, you’ll get a text or email alert before it shows up on your bill. 

• Track Trends and Set Goals 
Compare usage over time and set personal water use targets. You’ll get alerts when approaching or 
exceeding your goal, helping you avoid surprises and conserve more. 

• Access Anytime, Anywhere 
Whether you're at home or away, you can check your water usage at any time via the mobile app or 
online portal. 

 
What’s Happening Now: 
CCSD is installing (AMI) “endpoints” on water meters throughout Cambria. These devices transmit usage data 
to our system and are necessary for EyeOnWater to function. Once all meters are upgraded, there will be a short 
integration period during which we will test the system, confirm accuracy, and activate customer accounts. 
When we’re ready, we’ll notify customers with instructions on how to sign up and connect to EyeOnWater. All 
you’ll need is your ZIP code and CCSD water account number. 
 
Notice of Adoption of Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Preliminary Budget and Public Hearing to Consider 
Adoption of Proposed Final Budget of the Cambria Community Services District for Fiscal Year 2025-
2026 
 
The Cambria Community Services District (“CCSD”) Board of Directors adopted a Preliminary Budget for 
fiscal year 2025-2026 on June 12, 2025. The Board of Directors of the CCSD will conduct a public hearing on 
the proposed Final Budget for fiscal year 2025-2026 on August 14, 2025, commencing at 10:00 A.M. at 1000 
Main Street Cambria, CA 93428 and via Zoom webinar at the link below. Any person may attend and be heard 
regarding any item in the proposed Final Budget, or regarding the addition of other items. Public comment can 
also be submitted to the Confidential Administrative Assistant at boardcomment@cambriacsd.org. 

247

https://www.cambriacsd.org/notice-of-adoption-of-fiscal-year-2025-2026-preliminary-budget-and-public-hearing-to-consider-adoption-of-proposed-final-budget-of-the-cambria-community-services-district-for-fiscal-year-2025-2026
https://www.cambriacsd.org/notice-of-adoption-of-fiscal-year-2025-2026-preliminary-budget-and-public-hearing-to-consider-adoption-of-proposed-final-budget-of-the-cambria-community-services-district-for-fiscal-year-2025-2026
https://www.cambriacsd.org/notice-of-adoption-of-fiscal-year-2025-2026-preliminary-budget-and-public-hearing-to-consider-adoption-of-proposed-final-budget-of-the-cambria-community-services-district-for-fiscal-year-2025-2026
https://www.cambriacsd.org/2025-08-14-board-meeting
mailto:boardcomment@cambriacsd.org


 
 

 

 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION: You may contact the Confidential Administrative Assistant at 2150 Main 
Street, #1-A, P.O. Box 65, Cambria, CA 93428, Tel: (805) 927-6223. This public hearing shall comply with the 
requirements of the American with Disabilities Act. 
 
CCSD Recruitments 
 
Water Treatment Plant Operator-In-Training (OIT), I, II, or Water Systems Operator T3/D2 
Recruitment  
The Cambria Community Services District is currently accepting applications for one (1) position in the Water 
Department. The position may be filled at one of the following levels, depending on qualifications: 
 

• Water Treatment Plant Operator-In-Training (OIT) 
• Water Treatment Plant Operator I or II 
• Water Systems Operator T3/D2 

 
This recruitment will remain open until the position is filled. For more information, please visit our website. 
 
Maintenance Technician Recruitment  
The Cambria Community Services District is currently accepting applications to establish a hiring list for the 
position of Maintenance Technician in the Facilities & Resources Department. This recruitment will remain 
open until the District’s needs are met. For first consideration, apply immediately. For more information, please 
visit our website. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment: Notice of Inflationary Increases to Water and Sewer Rates in Accordance with a Previously  
Approved Schedule 
 

248

https://www.cambriacsd.org/water-treatment-plant-operator-in-training-oit-i-ii-or-water-systems-operator-t3-d2-recruitment
https://www.cambriacsd.org/water-treatment-plant-operator-in-training-oit-i-ii-or-water-systems-operator-t3-d2-recruitment
https://www.cambriacsd.org/water-treatment-plant-operator-in-training-oit-i-ii-or-water-systems-operator-t3-d2-recruitment
https://www.cambriacsd.org/maintenance-technician-recruitment-637a71a
https://www.cambriacsd.org/maintenance-technician-recruitment-637a71a


1 

Notice of Inflationary Increases to Water and Sewer Rates in  
Accordance with a Previously Approved Schedule 

 
(Si le gustaria recibir este documento en Español, por favor llame a CCSD (805) 927-6223.) 

 
 

On June 12, 2025, the Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services District (CCSD) voted to approve 
inflationary increases for water and sewer rates, effective on or after July 12, 2025, pursuant to a previously 
approved schedule, in accordance with Government Code Section 53756. The rate adjustments are authorized by 
CCSD Resolution 32-2022, adopted on May 19, 2022, and Resolution 43-2022, adopted on June 23, 2022, in 
accordance with Proposition 218. The new water and sewer rates are shown below.  

Rate Adjustments Needed to Fund Normal Operating Costs of the Water & Sewer Utility Systems 

The rate increases are necessary because the CCSD’s water and sewer utilities rely primarily on revenues from 
service charges to fund the costs of providing service. As such, water and sewer rates must be set at levels adequate 
to fund the costs of operating and maintaining the District’s water and sewer utility systems to support safe and 
reliable service.  

The key factors driving the need for the previously approved rate increases include: a need to restore balanced 
budgets to bring revenues back in line with the costs of providing service and restore financial stability, to help fund 
critical improvements to aging infrastructure, to help fund the District’s highest-priority water and sewer system 
capital needs, to provide a minimal prudent level of funding for repairs, replacements, and rehabilitation of aging 
infrastructure. 

Water Rates 

CCSD’s water rates include both 1) fixed charges levied on each account regardless of water use, and 2) water 
quantity charges billed based on metered water use in each billing period. Residential customers pay a uniform 
fixed charge per account plus water quantity charges billed via three graduating rate tiers, with water purchased 
first in Tier 1 and then subsequently in higher tiers that are more expensive as water use increases.  Commercial 
rates include fixed charges that vary by meter size – with higher charges for customers with larger meter sizes that 
place more demand on the water system – plus a uniform volumetric rate for all water use.  Quantity charges are 
billed in units of one hundred cubic feet (ccf), with 1 ccf equal to approximately 748 gallons. 
 
 

249



2 

 
 

 
  

250



3 

Sewer Rates 
 
CCSD sewer rates include both 1) fixed charges levied on each account regardless of usage, and 2) sewer quantity 
charges billed based on metered water use in each billing period. Sewer quantity charges for commercial customers 
vary based on wastewater class and strength, with lower charges for customers with lower-strength wastewater 
and higher charges for customers with higher-strength wastewater, which costs more to process and treat in order 
to comply with CCSD’s wastewater discharge permit requirements. 

 

 
 

251



CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 
TO:  Board of Directors                                        AGENDA NO. 7.C. 
       
FROM: Denise Fritz, Administrative Department Manager 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Meeting Date: July 10, 2025       Subject: Finance Manager’s Report 
 
 
EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR THE MONTH OF JUNE 2025  
 
The Expenditure Report for June 2025 is being submitted to the CCSD Board of Directors in today’s meeting 
(see Agenda Item 5.A.). The report includes a detailed listing and monthly sub-total for each Accounts Payable 
Vendor and a summary of each department’s monthly expenditures.  
 
CCSD DIRECTOR MEETINGS & COMPENSATION FOR THE MONTH OF JUNE 2025  
 
Per the CCSD Board Bylaws, CCSD Directors may receive compensation of $100 for each meeting attended, up 
to a maximum of $600 each month. The table below shows the month of the meeting being compensated for, the 
number of meetings attended for the month of compensation, and the total compensation paid for each CCSD 
Director.  
 

Director Name Meeting Month 
Number of 

Compensated 
Meetings 

Amount Per 
Meeting Total 

Dean, Karen MAY/JUNE 4 $100.00 $400 
Farmer, Harry APRIL/MAY 8 $100.00 $800 
Gray, Tom JUNE 1 $100.00 $100 
Scott, Debra MAY/JUNE 6 $100.00 $600 
Thomas, Michael MAY 4 $100.00 $400 
Total    $2,300 

 
AVAILABLE CASH BALANCES AS OF JUNE 30, 2025  
 
The total available cash is listed as follows:  
 
Account Type - Operating Balance 
Main Checking $919,709.13 
Total $919,709.13 
  
Account Type - Investments Balance 
Money Market $4,428.87 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) $62,434.95 
CAMP $3,929,612.19 
US Bank – Investment Fund $6,620,033.36 
Total $10,616,509.37 

 
Available cash is the balance in the Main Checking Account and the Investment Funds. As of June 30, 2025, the 
total available cash was $11,536,218.50. 
 

252



 
 

 

 
 
The total available cash in all restricted accounts is listed as follows:  
 
Account Type - Restricted Balance 
The Bank of New York Mellon $7,820,757.00 
Payroll $8,320.58 
Veterans’ Hall $17,667.62 
Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) $70,003.73 
Total $7,916,748.93 

 
Currently, the CCSD has adequate resources to meet its cash commitments. Staff will continue to be frugal in 
purchases, postpone non-critical purchases, and carefully monitor their respective budget(s).  
 
The following is the Bank of New York Mellon account activity for the SST projects.  
 
 

253



Prior Year 
Activity

Total Project 
Activity to Date

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)

Revenue
3,833,646        4,279,243           7,820,757           

Expense
1,175,753        1,444,061           2,347,163           

56,662              56,662                 (10,150)               
823,574           823,574               1,595,519           
245,568           321,130               282,199               
602,989           602,989               687,983               
144,400           246,127               308,560               
377,332           377,332               548,072               
352,857           352,857               795,700               

54,511              54,511                 1,265,711           
3,833,646        4,279,243           7,820,757           

-                    -                       -                       

12-61709-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 12 IMPV TO WW LIFT STATIONS 1,320,222                -                    
Expense Total: 12,100,000              445,597            

12-61708-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 9 SCADA SYSTEM UPGRADE 1,148,557                -                    

Net -                            -                    

12-61706-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 7 ELECTRICAL IMPV SERVICE PANEL 554,687                    101,727            
12-61707-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 8 GENERATOR REPLACEMENT 925,404                    -                    

12-61704-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 4 BLOWER REPLACEMENT 603,329                    75,562              
12-61705-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 5 RAS & WAS IMPV 1,290,972                -                    

12-61703-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 3 MLW AERATION BASIN UPGRD 2,419,093                -                    
12-61702-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 2 INFLUENT LIFT STN IMPV 46,512                      -                    

Fund: 12 - WASTEWATER FUND

12-61701-12 CAP ASSET - WW ECM 1 FLOW EQUAL IMPV 3,791,224                268,308            

12-43980-12 LOAN PROCEEDS - WW COP 2022A BONDS 12,100,000              445,597            

Current 
Total Budget

Fiscal
Activity

254



 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities 
June 2025 

1

Please note that an “Acronyms and Explanations” section has been added to this report and can be 
found at the end of this document. This list will be augmented as new terms are discussed. Please 
let us know if we can supply any additional information. 

• Operational Challenges & Response
o Train two aeration basin and clarifier taken offline for service, causing hydraulic

loading stress on Train one.
o To prevent solids overflow at the clarifier weirs, operators used the Vac-Con truck

daily to remove floating sludge from the aeration basin and clarifier.
o Targeted polymer injection is used at the back of the aeration basin to help sink

floating solids.
o Vac-Con was used multiple times per week to remove floating solids from the

pond's surface to reduce solids accumulation.

• Site Maintenance
o Mowed areas around settling ponds in preparation for installing fencing for grazing

sheep.
o New mower suffered a broken pull cord assembly; unit sent to United Rentals for

warranty repair.

• Equipment & System Maintenance

o June 10: RAS Pump #1 failed with no alarm; operators quickly identified the issue.
 Tough Automation found and replaced a blown fuse in the control cabinet.
 Operators were trained on failure and proper response procedures.

o Continued work with Tough Automation on optimizing SCADA equipment and
reducing nuisance alarms.

o Switched and serviced blowers following slab demolition; replaced blower filters to
mitigate dust issues.

o Replaced the rotating assembly in Influent Pump #3.
o Reworked Clarifier #2 gate valve to enable full closure; ordered a new 6” gate valve

from Waterman for replacement.

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report 

7D

255



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities 
June 2025 

 2 

 
 

Collection System 

Jetting Activity 

Activity 
Date Street Activity Type Length (ft) 

6/11/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 172 
6/11/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 136 
6/11/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 169 
6/12/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Jetted & Camera Inspected 147 
6/12/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Jetted & Camera Inspected 172 
6/23/2025 Iva Ct. Jetted & Camera Inspected 133 
6/24/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 104 
6/24/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 98 
6/24/2025 Hillcrest Dr. Camera Inspected 181 
6/24/2025 Iva Ct. Camera Inspected 70 

    Total Camera Inspected (ft) 1,382 
        

6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 322 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr Jetted 228 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 221 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 345 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 312 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 346 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr Jetted 338 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 168 
6/3/2025 Taft Pl Jetted 191 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 189 
6/3/2025 Pineridge Dr Jetted 192 
6/3/2025 Mills St Jetted 306 
6/3/2025 Ardath Dr Jetted 222 
6/5/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 390 
6/5/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 410 
6/9/2025 Banbury Rd. to Pineridge Dr. Easement Jetted 124 
6/9/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 96 
6/9/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 334 
6/9/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 285 
6/9/2025 Wilcombe Rd Jetted 405 

6/10/2025 Banbury Rd Jetted 294 

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report (Continued) 

 

 

7D

256



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities 
June 2025 

 3 

6/10/2025 Malvern Ave Jetted 133 
6/10/2025 Malvern Ave. Jetted 99 
6/10/2025 Malvern Ave. Jetted 143 
6/10/2025 Malvern Ave. Jetted 378 
6/10/2025 Malvern St Jetted 306 
6/10/2025 Banbury Rd. Jetted 200 
6/10/2025 Banbury Rd. Jetted 289 
6/16/2025 Leona Dr Jetted 403 
6/16/2025 Leona Dr. Jetted 342 
6/16/2025 Leona Dr. Jetted 401 
6/16/2025 Pineridge Dr. Jetted 190 
6/18/2025 Dreydon Ave. Jetted 198 
6/18/2025 Dreydon Ave. Jetted 308 
6/18/2025 Dreydon Ave. Jetted 354 
6/18/2025 Dreydon Ave Jetted 385 
6/18/2025 Melrose Ave. Jetted 350 
6/18/2025 Dreydon Ave. Jetted 383 
6/24/2025 Iva Ct. Jetted 232 

    

Total Jetted (including the three 
sewer line segments that were 

both Jetted and Camera 
Inspected) (ft) 11,264 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7D

257



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 4 

 
 

 

 

Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvements - Concrete Pad Installation  

Water Staff created a concrete pad for a new transformer for the new electric vehicle charger. The 
charger itself was obtained free of charge from the Ford Motor Company in conjunction with our 
purchase of the Ford Lightning electric pickup. Staff saw-cut and hand-dug the area to lay and 
compact a layer of Class II road base. They followed up by tying rebar and proceeding to mix nearly 
40 bags of concrete. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Water Department Report 

 

 

Figure 1: Excavated with rebar added and prepped Figure 2: New concrete smoothing 

Figure 3: Finished pad with new equipment pre-install 

7D

258



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 5 

 

 

Advanced Meter Infrastructure (AMI) 

AMI meters provide more detailed usage data and can be a meaningful water-efficiency tool. This 
technology measures detailed information about water usage at properties and provides our 
customer service representatives with information to better address water-use concerns. In 
addition, it will enable us to provide notifications regarding possible leaks, near real-time meter 
readings, and will help streamline our meter reading processes. This data management technology 
will allow us to provide more detailed information to both rate payers and account managers while 
also increasing the efficiency of billing procedures and reducing man hours.  

AMI equipment relies primarily on cellular communications technology. Our coverage projections 
show there are 82 customers where cellular service cannot be provided and are on radio reads. We 
will try our best to determine cellular coverage feasibility at those sites. 

Additional Water Meter Upgrades: 

Ultrasonic water meter splicing performed by staff. All 2” ultrasonic meters completed (pic of 
splicing). The ultrasonic meters in our system already have digital endpoints. The AMI transmitters 
had to be spliced in.  

 

 

7D

259



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 6 

 

 

 

Leak Detection:  

18 residences have water flowing through their meter for 24 consecutive hours. Out of a concern for 
conservation, Water Department staff visited every residence and notified the user of the leak.  

Water Department staff have been running weekly leak detection. Leaks are flagged once water 
flow has been identified as continuously flowing through a meter for at least 24 hours. The 
notification clears once water has stopped going through the meter for one whole hour. Out of a 
concern for water conservation, department staff visited every residence and notified the user of a 
leak. The findings, so far, have revealed hoses left on and/or pressurized hoses leaking out at 
threaded connections. 

Concerned about a particular hydrant? Please let us know at: 
 

https://www.cambriacsd.org/report-a-fire-hydrant-issue 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

7D

260

https://www.cambriacsd.org/report-a-fire-hydrant-issue


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 7 

 

 
Note: The status of current CCSD projects can also be found on the CCSD website via the following 
link.  https://www.cambriacsd.org/district-project-updates 
 
 
Project:  
Adaptive Management Plan (AMP) 
Description:  
The AMP is a surface water, groundwater, and biological monitoring program designed to detect 
potential impacts on sensitive biological resources, requiring groundwater modeling and 
monitoring while the WRF is in operation. 
Current Status Update: 
The 2017 AMP is available on the District website.   
www.cambriacsd.org/files/f15b73f09/01_cambria-swf-amp_july-2017.pdf 
 
AMP monitoring is ongoing. Per methods described in the AMP, quarterly surveys are conducted at 
eight (8) survey sites to collect data and to describe survey conditions, habitats, stream flows, 
surface water quality, 9P7 soil moisture, and observed species. 
 
The CCSD’s biologist has submitted the second and third-quarter 2024 AMP environmental 
monitoring reports. The twenty-four-page document encompasses background information for the 
project location, a methodology for surveying, and recommendations for future operations. The 
report can be located on the CCSD website at 
 www.cambriacsd.org/amp-annual-reports-amp-monitoring-reports 
The General Manager, utility staff, and the biologist met late in December and discussed the goals 
and objectives of the AMP for 2025. 
 
Project:  
San Simeon Well Field (SSWF) Transmission Main Project 
Description:  
Developing a permanent repair of the San Simeon Water Main. This project will also include 
solutions for the parallel Sewer Effluent Main.    
Current Status Update: 
The project is currently in the design phase. The District's consultant, Cannon, is working on the 
plans, which are between 30% and 50% complete. 

In November, the consultant applied for a Caltrans Encroachment Permit. However, on January 13, 
2025, the Caltrans District 05 Encroachment Permits Office issued a letter indicating that the 
application was incomplete. The District’s consultant is expected to respond to Caltrans by January 
31, 2025. Caltrans has indicated that the lead time for obtaining a permit is approximately six to 
nine months. 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Project Status Summaries (Continued) 
(Purple text indicates new information) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

Water Department Report (Continued) 

 

 

7D

261

https://www.cambriacsd.org/district-project-updates
http://www.cambriacsd.org/files/f15b73f09/01_cambria-swf-amp_july-2017.pdf
http://www.cambriacsd.org/amp-annual-reports-amp-monitoring-reports


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 8 

 

 

San Simeon Well Field (SSWF) Transmission Main Project (Continued) 

While Caltrans permitting and the design of the 65% plan set are ongoing, permitting with other 
State Agencies has also begun. A streambed alteration (SA) application with the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) is being prepared for submission. A determination under 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) is required, and an Initial Study Mitigated Negative 
Declaration (ISMND) is also being prepared for submission. 

The permitting processes for CDFW and CEQA will be conducted concurrently while the Caltrans 
permit is finalized. Obtaining a Streambed Alteration Permit from CDFW typically takes five to six 
months. Potholing for utilities and soil analysis will be performed once an encroachment permit 
has been issued. 
 
All environmental surveys have been completed, except for the historical and cultural surveys, 
which are not seasonally dependent. 

State Parks staff are currently reviewing the preliminary proposed layout for the pipeline through 
State Parks property. 

Due to permitting timeline and the need for additional funding, the expected construction schedule 
is anticipated to begin in the Summer of 2026. 
 
Caltrans approved an encroachment permit for utility locating and geotechnical investigations on 
June 26th. 
 
Project: Water Meter Replacement Project – AMI 
Description: This project will upgrade the CCSD metering system to an Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure (AMI) with new meters that provide real-time water analytics.   
Current Status Update: Grace Environmental finished the installation of the 3500 AMI endpoints 
and water meter registers they were contracted to install on June 11, almost two months ahead of 
the scheduled completion date of August 1.  A notice of completion for the project was filed with 
the San Luis Obispo County Clerk-Recorder on 6/17/2025. Water department staff will install AMI 
on the remaining 552 difficult-to-install meters. Of those, roughly 250 have been completed. 

Project: Cambria Skatepark Project 
Description: Design and construct a new skatepark facility at the old skatepark location on Main St 
across from the Vets Hall.   
Current Status Update: 
The minor use permit portion of the permitting process is complete. The National Park Service 
requested additional project information, which was supplied via an updated Land and Water 
Conservation Fund (LWCF) A&R Form 10-904 and an updated LWCF Site Boundary map. Staff 
anticipate receiving funding in January 2025. On 10/30/2024, staff received confirmation that all 
information required for the application completion was confirmed and that no additional 
information was needed. Funding was awarded on 6/24/2025. 

Project Status Summaries (Continued) 
(Purple text indicates new information) 

 

 

7D

262



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 9 

 
 
 
 
 
Project: East Ranch Restroom Project 
Description: Design and construct a new restroom facility at the Cambria Community Park.   
Current Status Update: 
The power poles for running the power across Rodeo Grounds Drive have been installed, the 
transformer in the utility chase in the restroom building has been installed, and the final electrical 
work has been completed. Once the electrical wires have been run between the two poles and 
connected, the building will be ready for its final inspection from SLO County. 
 
Electrical wires were run between the installed poles, and the building's electrical system was 
tested. The SLO County Department of Planning and Building inspector performed a final 
inspection and certified the building for occupancy. Information on compliance with the mitigation 
and environmental monitoring requirements was submitted to SLO Planning and Building, and we 
are waiting for them to sign off on the project. The project is considered substantially complete, and 
a notice of completion was filed with the SLO County Clerk-Recorder on June 17th.  
 
 
Project: Pilot project for Zero Liquid Discharge for Brine in WRF 
Description: Pilot study project to test innovative technology for brine reduction with the goal of 
zero liquid discharge 
Current Status Update: 
The updated Wastewater Permit has incorporated future ZLD pilot operations or full-time 
operations. ZLD pilot operations have been postponed until the Fall of 2025. 
 
 
Project: Stuart Street Tank Project 
Description: Critical water infrastructure project to rebuild the Stuart Street tanks, which have 
reached their useful operational life   
Current Status Update: 
The final Coastal Development Permit (CDP), C-DRC2024-00038, was approved and received. Final 
permits have been submitted to SLO County Planning & Building to approve the relocation of the 
retaining wall. Plans were submitted 4/18/2025 and are under review. Processing time for the 
permit application is expected to be 42 days. Utilities staff have been researching landscape 
options to provide better aesthetics around the site once the tank construction is complete. 
 
The building and grading permits for the retaining wall and site grading have been approved by the 
San Luis County Department of Planning and Building. A Request for Proposals for the construction 
of the project was released on June 13th.  A pre-bid meeting is scheduled for June 26th. The bidding 
closes on July 11 at 10 am, and thereafter the bids will be opened. 
  

Project Status Summaries (Continued) 
(Purple text indicates new information) 

 

 

Project Status Summaries (Continued) 
(Purple text indicates new information) 

 

 

Project Status Summaries (Continued) 
(Purple text indicates new information) 

 

 

7D

263



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 10 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REPORTING 
 

State of California regulatory reporting requirements for Water and Wastewater 
 
Water Department (Monthly/Quarterly Reporting) 

• SAFER Drought & Conservation Data Collection monthly and quarterly report 

• Title 22 monthly, quarterly, and annual monitoring report to the State Water Resources 
Control Board 

• Disinfection By-Products Analysis Qtr. 3 

• DDW: Surface Water Treatment Regulation (SWTR) for Santa Rosa Well 3 and Well 4; 

 
San Simeon Wells 1-3 Testing/Reporting 
Ground Water Regulation (GWR) for San Simeon Wells 1-3 (Monthly) 
Total Coliform Regulation Reporting (Monthly) 
Bacterio-logical distribution system reporting (Monthly)  
Disinfection by-products (DBP) reporting (Quarterly) 
 
Additional Water Department Reporting (Annually/Semi-Annual) 

• Haz Mat Business Plan (Completed January 2024) 

• Discharge Monitoring Report (Completed January 2024) 

• Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) submittal to DDW and release to the public 

• Annual Volumetric Discharge Report  

• Annual Water Shortage Assessment (start April/due July 1) was approved for submission by 
the Board and was submitted on June 17th.  

• CCR final data posting by July 1 

• Annual Stormwater Report (July 15) 

• California Lead and Copper Rule inventory and report (Completed October 2024) 

• Advanced Clean Fleets Report 

Wastewater Department Reporting 

Monthly/Quarterly 

• CIWQS Spill Report Requirement 

• RWQCB Report (Feb/Aug) 

 
 

7D

264



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 11 

 

 

 

Annually/Semi-Annually 

• Volumetric Annual Report (Jan) 

• CERS (Feb) – California Environmental Reporting System 

o https://cers.calepa.ca.gov/  

• APCD Generator Report (Mar) – SLO County Air Pollution Control District 

o https://www.slocleanair.org/  

• Biosolids Report (Apr/Oct) 

• CIWQS (Apr) – California Integrated Water Quality System Project 

o https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/ciwqs/  

• RWQCB Report (semi-annual May/Nov; annual Jan) 

o Regional Water Quality Control Board 

o https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/  

• SMARTS Stormwater (Jul/Dec) 

o California Water Boards 

o https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/  

• CUPA HazMat Plan Update – (Certified Unified Program Agency) 

 San Luis Obispo Department of Environmental Health Services 

 https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-
health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-
and-waste)  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REPORTING (Continued) 
 

7D

265

https://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
https://www.slocleanair.org/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/ciwqs/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/
https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 12 

 

 
Water Resources, Conservation, & Permits Report 

 
Water Supply Status Summary 
 
As of June 25: 

Source Acre-feet 
(YTD) 

Annual 
Allocation 

Percentage of 
Allocation Diverted 

(YTD) 

Percentage of Dry-
Season Allocation 

Diverted 

San Simeon 179.69 799 22.5% 0% 

Santa Rosa 56.5 218 25.9% 34.7% 

 
Additional well-level data and production summary reports are available on the website at 
www.cambriacsd.org/water-data 
 
Santa Rosa Basin 

As of June 25, 2025, we have diverted 56.5 acre-feet, or 25.9%, of our 218 acre-feet per year (AFY) 
allocation. The dry season began in the Santa Rosa Groundwater Basin on May 1st, beginning our 
shift to pull water from the Santa Rosa Groundwater Basin to preserve water in the San Simeon 
Groundwater Basin. 

San Simeon Basin 

As of June 25, 2025, we have diverted 179.69 acre-feet, or 22.5%, of our 799 AFY allocation. 
 
Water Supply & Demand 
 
Please see the Potable Water Shortage Assessment table for details on anticipated water demand, 
actual demand, water supply adjustment, total water supply for June, expected effects of the Water 
Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) response actions, and the anticipated surplus for the July 2024-
June 2025 water shortage reporting timeframe. 
 
For additional information, see the charts, graphs, and June diversion sheet at the end of this 
report. 

The 2025-2026 Annual Water Supply and Demand Assessment was reviewed and approved by the 
Board for submission to the California Department of Water Resources, and was submitted on June 
17th. 

  

7D

266

http://www.cambriacsd.org/water-data


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 13 

 

 
Permit Counter Monthly Summary (YTD Counts as of 06/25/2025) 
(Please note that not all applications for the month may be present at the time of report submission) 
 
ASSIGNMENT OF POSITION APPLICATIONS - 13 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 20) 
 
RETROFIT APPLICATIONS - 15 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 33) 
023.094.006 – 1990 OXFORD AVE. - RESALE 
 
TRANSFER OF POSITION/EDU APPLICATIONS - 1 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 3) 
 
VOLUNTARY LOT MERGER APPLICATIONS (ELIGIBILITY) - 6 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 16) 
023.371.005/023.371.018 - Approved 
022.343.013/022.343.014/022.202.001 - Approved 
 
VACATION RENTAL CONDITIONAL APPROVAL APPLICATIONS - 10 YTD  (Total for 2024 was 22) 
023.084.001 – 1980 Sherwood Dr. 
023.032.008 – 1107 Kenneth Dr. 
013.101.074 – 1095 Main St. 
 
VACATION RENTAL FINAL APPROVAL - 2 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 7) 
022.353.009 – 1086 HILLCREST DR. 
 
WATER SERVICE INSTALLATION OR UPGRADE APPLICATIONS - 2 YTD  (Total for 2024 was 4) 
 
INTENT-TO-SERVES ISSUED - 0 YTD 
 
WAITLIST WITHDRAWALS - 0 YTD 
 
WILL SERVE APPLICATIONS (INCLUDING FIRE PLAN / SPRINKLER REVIEWS) - 19 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 59) 
023.013.026 – 2570 Sherwood Dr. – Exterior siding upgrade 
024.272.015 – 1598 Richard Dr. – Fire Suppression System Insall 
013.321.014 – 4919 Windsor Blvd. – Remodel and Addition 
013.331.045 – 6564 Buckley Dr – Outdoor Deck Upgrade 
 
WATER USE EFFICIENCY WALK-THROUGHS COMPLETED - 0 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 0) 
 

 

 

 

 
 

7D

267



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 14 

 
 
 
AMI - Advanced Metering Infrastructure 
 
AMP - Adaptive Management Plan (Re. Emergency Water Supply Project) 
 
APCD -  “SLO County” Air Pollution Control District 

• https://www.slocleanair.org/ 
 
AQMD - "South Coast" Air Quality Management District 
(As opposed to the Bay Area AQMD, aka BAAQMD) 
 
CCR - Consumer Confidence Report 
 
CDP - Coastal Development Permit 
 
CEQA - California Environmental Quality Act  

• https://ceqaportal.org/  
 
CUPA - Certified Unified Program Agency 

• San Luis Obispo Department of Environmental Health Services 
• https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-

health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste) 
 
DDW - Drinking Water Program (State Water Resources Control Board) 

• https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/ 
 
ECM - Energy Conservation Module 

• Technology that helps save energy by making smart adjustments to a system or device. 
 
EDU - Equivalent Dwelling Unit (Water Allocation Unit) 

• https://www.cambriacsd.org/will-serves-and-retrofits 
 

EIR - Environmental Impact Report (See CEQA and MND's) 
 
LAFCO (CALAFCO) - Local Agency Formation Commission - https://calafco.org/ 
 
LCP - Local Coastal Program 

• Coastal planning documents that allow California’s 76 coastal zone cities and counties to 
implement the Coastal Act at the local level. 

• https://www.coastal.ca.gov/lcp/lcp-info/ 

Acronyms and Explanations 

 

7D

268

https://www.slocleanair.org/
https://ceqaportal.org/
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/
https://www.cambriacsd.org/will-serves-and-retrofits
https://calafco.org/
https://www.coastal.ca.gov/lcp/lcp-info/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 15 

 
 
 
 
Lift Station 

• A pump that moves wastewater from a lower elevation to a higher elevation, so that it can 
reach a wastewater treatment plant. They are installed in low-lying areas or places with 
deep pipes. 

 
NCAC - North Coast Advisory Council 

• https://www.ncacslo.org/ 
 
NOE - Notice of Exemption 
 
NOFO - Notice of Funding Opportunity 
 
NPDES - National Pollutants Discharge Elimination System 

• Permit for discharge to water 
 
MCL – Maximum Contaminant Level 
 
MND - Mitigated Negative Declaration (Re: CEQA and EIR's) 

• A mitigated negative declaration (MND) is a document that states that a project will not 
have a significant environmental impact. 

 
MOU – Memorandum of Understanding: Non-binding agreement between two or more parties that 
outlines their intentions and roles 
 
Potholing – Creating holes to locate and map the path of underground pipes or conduit. 
 
RAS – Return-Activated Sludge 

• Settled activated sludge that is collected in the secondary clarifier and returned to the 
aeration basin to mix with incoming raw wastewater. 

 
SCADA  - Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (Method of machine control) 

• https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SCADA 
 
SGMA - Sustainable Groundwater Management Act  

• https://water.ca.gov/programs/groundwater-management/sgma-groundwater-management  
 
  

Acronyms and Explanations (Continued) 

 

7D

269

https://www.ncacslo.org/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SCADA
https://water.ca.gov/programs/groundwater-management/sgma-groundwater-management


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities Report for Department Activities         
June 2025 

 16 

 
 
SWCA - Steven W Carothers Associates (Environmental Consulting Firm) 

• https://www.swca.com/  
 
TDS - Total Dissolved Solids 
 
TMDL - Total Maximum Daily Load 

• A TMDL is the calculation of the maximum amount of a pollutant allowed to enter a 
waterbody 

 
UWMP - Urban Water Management Plan (CA Dept of Water Resources) 
 
VFD - Variable Frequency Drive 

• A type of motor controller that regulates the speed and torque of an electric motor by 
changing the frequency and voltage of the power supply. 

 
WAS – Waste Activated Sludge 

• Excess biomass removed from the system and sent for further treatment or disposal. 
 
WDR - Waste Discharge Requirements 

• Permit for discharge to land 
 
ZLD - Zero Liquid Discharge 

• https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zero_liquid_discharge 

Acronyms and Explanations (Continued) 

 

7D

270

https://www.swca.com/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zero_liquid_discharge


6/16/2025
Well Read Date

Well Name Well Description/Location Distance to Water 
Level (ft)

Reference Point 
Elevation AMSL (ft) Depth AMSL (ft) Comments 

23R High School 38.68 83.42 44.74
SR4* CCCD Production 33.64 82.00 48.36
SR3 CCSD Production 19.10 54.30 35.20
SR1 CCSD 17.57 46.40 28.83
21R3 County Parks 8.48 12.88 4.40 Meter Read (CF): 49570
WBE Windsor Bridge East 12.10 16.87 4.77
WBW Windsor Bridge West 12.46 17.02 4.56

SR4 48.36
AVG SR1 & SR3 32.02

Well Name Well Description/Location Distance to Water 
Level (ft)

Reference Point 
Elevation AMSL (ft) Depth AMSL (ft) Comments 

16D1 Van Gordon Creek Bridge 7.44 11.36 3.92
MW4 Monitoring at Lagoon Entrance 11.59 15.95 4.36
MW1 Monitoring at Blowers 42.11
MW2 Monitoring at Influent 38.10
MW3 Monitoring at Pond Gate 49.56
9M1 Warren's Van Gordon Creek 65.63
9P2 Gradient Monitoring 10.54 19.11 8.57
9P7 WRF Intake 20.69
9L1 Abandoned Irrigation 16.16 27.33 11.17
RIW WRF Injection Well 25.41
SS4 CCCD 14.77 25.92 11.15
MIW WRF Injection Monitoring 29.89
SS3* CCSD Production 15.41 33.73 18.32

SS2* CCSD Production 14.40 33.16 18.65

Unable to read SS2. Depth 
AMSL calculated as an 

average of SS3 & SS1. 14.40 
is not accurate.

SS1* CCSD Production 13.39 32.37 18.98
11B1 Pedotti 105.43
11C1 Pedotti 15.62 98.20 82.58

PFNW Palmer Flats 93.22
10A1 Pedotti's Recorder 78.18
10G2 New Rock Plant 62.95
10G1 Old Rock Plant 59.55
10F2 Warren 66.92
10M2 Pedotti 23.75 55.21 31.46
9J3 Pedotti 43.45

Lagoon Creek Pedestrian Bridge 20.16 Mitigation Erosion: None

AVG S1, SS2 & SS3 18.65
SS4/9P2 Gradient 2.58

*Above Mean Sea Level (AMSL)
*CCSD's Production Wells
Reference point on 16D1, MIW1, MIW2, MIW3, 9P7, RIW, MIW1, SS1, SS2 and SS3 updated on 2/17/2015

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES  WELL LEVELS

SAN SIMEON CREEK WELLS

SANTA ROSA CREEK WELLS

271



0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

16.00

18.00

20.00

22.00

24.00

26.00

28.00

M
AR 15 (start)

APR 1

APR 15

M
AY 1

M
AY 15

JU
N

E 1

JU
N

E 15

JU
LY 1

JU
LY 15

AU
G 1

AU
G 15

SEPT 1

SEPT 15

O
CT 1

O
CT 15

N
O

V 1

N
O

V 15

DEC 1

DEC 15

JAN
 1

JAN
 15

FEB 1

FEB 14

M
AR 1

M
AR 15 (end)

El
ev

at
io

n 
ab

ov
e 

Se
a 

Le
ve

l (
Fe

et
)

San Simeon Creek Well Levels
Mid-March 2025 Levels to Date and

1988 to Current, Min, Max, & Average

Minimum Maximum Average 2025

272



0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

16.00

18.00

20.00

22.00

24.00

26.00

28.00

M
AR 15 (start)

APR 1

APR 15

M
AY 1

M
AY 15

JU
N

E 1

JU
N

E 15

JU
LY 1

JU
LY 15

AU
G 1

AU
G 15

SEPT 1

SEPT 15

O
CT 1

O
CT 15

N
O

V 1

N
O

V 15

DEC 1

DEC 15

JAN
 1

JAN
 15

FEB 1

FEB 14

M
AR 1

M
AR 15 (end)

El
ev

at
io

n 
ab

ov
e 

Se
a 

Le
ve

l (
Fe

et
)

San Simeon Creek Well Levels
Last 10 years

March 2015 - Current

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

273



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

M
AR 15 (start)

APR 1

APR 15

M
AY 1

M
AY 15

JU
N

E 1

JU
N

E 15

JU
LY 1

JU
LY 15

AU
G 1

AU
G 15

SEPT 1

SEPT 15

O
CT 1

O
CT 15

N
O

V 1

N
O

V 15

DEC 1

DEC 15

JAN
 1

JAN
 15

FEB 1

FEB 14

M
AR 1

M
AR 15 (end)

El
ev

at
io

n 
ab

ov
e 

Se
a 

Le
ve

l (
Fe

et
)

San Simeon Creek Well Levels
1988 - Current

1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

274



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

M
AR

 1
5

AP
R 

1

AP
R 

15

M
AY

 1

M
AY

 1
5

JU
N

 1

JU
N

 1
5

JU
L 

1

JU
L 

15

AU
G 

1

AU
G 

15

SE
PT

 1

SE
PT

 1
5

O
CT

 1

O
CT

 1
5

N
O

V 
1

N
O

V 
15

DE
C 

1

DE
C 

15

 JA
N

 1

JA
N

 1
5

FE
B 

1

 F
EB

 1
5

M
AR

 1

M
AR

 1
5

El
ev

at
io

n 
Ab

ov
e 

Se
a 

Le
ve

l (
fe

et
)

1988 to Current Statistical San Simeon Well Level Summary by Month
showing Minimums, Maximums, 25 % Percentile, 75% Percentile

Average Level is the line between the Blue (hatched) and Green (solid) bars
Minimum Average 25th Percentile 75th Percentile 2025

275



0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

40.00

45.00

50.00

55.00

60.00

65.00

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
 A

BO
VE

 S
EA

 L
EV

EL

SANTA ROSA CREEK WELL LEVELS
March 2025 - Current

23R SR3 SR1 WBE SR4  Indicates CCSD Production wells

276



Potable Water Shortage Assessment1
Start Year: 2024 Volumetric Unit Used: AF

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
Anticipated Unconstrained Demand 51.74 48.97 45.82 46.35 42.77 41.06 37.16 34.65 37.79 40.75 43.01 45.70 515.77

Actual Demand 52.17 49.16 45.01 46.77 40.69 40.63 40.58 33.80 37.39 39.11 45.14 48.78 519.23
Supply Adjustment 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Anticipated Total Water Supply 55.49 49.20 40.74 38.43 41.19 43.81 44.74 39.34 38.20 39.05 43.52 46.19 519.90
Accrued Surplus/Shortage from Previous Month 0.0 3.3 0.0 -4.3 -8.3 0.5 3.2 4.2 5.5 0.8 -0.1 -1.6 3.25
Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action 3.7 3.5 -5.0 -12.2 -9.9 3.2 10.8 8.8 6.0 -0.9 0.4 -1.1 7.4

Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action 7% 7% -11% -26% -23% 8% 29% 26% 16% -2% 1% -2% 1%
State Standard Shortage Level 1 1 2 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Anticipated Benefit from WSCP:  Supply Augmentation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Anticipated Benefit from WSCP:  Demand Reduction 5.2 4.9 9.2 13.9 12.8 4.1 3.7 3.5 3.8 4.1 9.8 7.7 82.6

Actual Benefit from WSCP Action -0.4 -0.2 0.8 -0.4 2.1 0.4 -3.4 0.9 0.4 1.6 -2.1 -3.1 -3.46
 Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action 8.9 8.4 4.1 1.7 2.9 7.4 14.5 12.3 9.7 3.2 10.2 6.6 90.0

Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action 17% 17% 9% 4% 7% 18% 39% 36% 26% 8% 24% 14% 17%
Actual Surplus/Shortage 3.3 0.0 -4.3 -8.3 0.5 3.2 4.2 5.5 0.8 -0.1 -1.6 -2.6 0.7

Actual % Surplus/Shortage 6% 0% -9% -18% 1% 8% 10% 16% 2% 0% -4% -5% 0.13%
State Standard Shortage Level Achieved 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Anticipated Unconstrained Demand: Projection based on the average water production from the 2019, 2021, 2022, and 2023 reporting years.
Actual Demand: The total amount of potable water produced for the month.
Supply Adjustment: Observed aquifer recharge/depletion from seasonal precipitation/lack thereof.
Anticipated Total Water Supply: The target amount to be produced assuming dry years conditions.
Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP: The volumetric difference in the anticipated unconstrained demand and anticipated total water supply without any shortage response actions.
Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action: The difference in the anticipated unconstrained demand and anticipated total water supply without any shortage response actions expressed as a percentage. 
State Standard Shortage Level: The corresponding shortage level per California Water Code Section 10632(a)(3)(A).
Anticipated Benefit from WSCP - Supply Augmentation: Projected volume of water added to the supply, such as from the operation of the Water Reclamation Facility.
Anticipated Benefit from WSCP - Demand Reduction: Projected volume of water conserved through shortage response actions. 
Actual Benefit from WSCP Action: Actual supply augmentation or demand reduction achieved.
Revised Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action: Volumetric difference between the anticipated surplus/shortage w/o WSCP action and the actual benefits obtained.
Revised Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action: Difference between the anticipated surplus/shortage w/o WSCP action and the actual benefits obtained expressed as a percentage.
Actual Surplus/Shortage: Volumetric difference between the anticipated total water supply (including any adjustments) and the actual total demand.
Actual % Surplus/Shortage: Difference between the anticipated total water supply (including any adjustments) and the actual total demand expressed as a percentage.
WSCP: Water Shortage Contingency Plan

Definitions for Terms Used in This Table

Planned WSCP Actions

= Projected

1Assessments are based on best available data at time of submitting the report and actual volumes could be different due to many factors.

= Actual

277



2025
Production 

Wells

DAY OF 
MONTH

SS #1 SS #2 SS #3 SR4 SR1 SR3*
ALL WELLS 

TOTAL 
(galx1000)

Daily 
Pumpage (AF)

Month to Date 
(AF)

AWTP Santa Rosa SR3 
(galx1,000)

SR4 (gal)

1 0.00 242.00 227.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 469.00 1.44 1 19725 6721118
2 0.00 258.00 245.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 503.00 1.54 3
3 0.00 52.00 390.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 442.00 1.36 4
4 0.00 17.00 57.00 530.00 0.00 0.00 604.00 1.85 6
5 0.00 219.00 206.00 96.00 0.00 0.00 521.00 1.60 8
6 0.00 207.00 243.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 450.00 1.38 9
7 0.00 1.00 0.00 471.00 0.00 0.00 472.00 1.45 11
8 0.00 0.00 0.00 562.00 0.00 0.00 562.00 1.72 12
9 0.00 0.00 0.00 468.00 0.00 0.00 468.00 1.44 14

10 0.00 0.00 0.00 508.00 0.00 0.00 508.00 1.56 15
11 0.00 111.00 120.00 238.00 0.00 0.00 469.00 1.44 17
12 0.00 249.00 226.00 24.00 0.00 0.00 499.00 1.53 18
13 0.00 0.00 0.00 506.00 0.00 0.00 506.00 1.55 20
14 0.00 0.00 0.00 465.00 0.00 0.00 465.00 1.43 21
15 0.00 0.00 0.00 532.00 0.00 0.00 532.00 1.63 23
16 0.00 0.00 0.00 506.00 0.00 0.00 506.00 1.55 24
17 0.00 0.00 0.00 497.00 0.00 0.00 497.00 1.53 26
18 0.00 260.00 231.00 48.00 0.00 0.00 539.00 1.65 28
19 0.00 42.00 35.00 505.00 0.00 0.00 582.00 1.79 29
20 0.00 0.00 0.00 512.00 0.00 0.00 512.00 1.57 31
21 0.00 0.00 0.00 502.00 0.00 0.00 502.00 1.54 33
22 0.00 123.00 75.00 521.00 0.00 0.00 719.00 2.21 35
23 0.00 61.00 52.00 497.00 0.00 0.00 610.00 1.87 37
24 0.00 71.00 61.00 522.00 0.00 0.00 654.00 2.01 39
25 0.00 24.00 25.00 410.00 0.00 0.00 459.00 1.41 40
26 0.00 0.00 0.00 540.00 0.00 0.00 540.00 1.66 42
27 0.00 0.00 0.00 547.00 0.00 0.00 547.00 1.68 43
28 0.00 244.00 219.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 463.00 1.42 45
29 0.00 336.00 320.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 656.00 2.01 47
30 0.00 207.00 194.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 401.00 1.23 48 19725 6960144

TOTALS 0.00 2724.00 2926.00 10007.00 0.00 0.00 15657.00 48.05 (galx1000) 0.00 0.00 (galx1000) 0.00 239.03
Daily AVG 0.00 90.80 97.53 333.57 0.00 0.00 521.90 1.60 (ACRE-FEET) 0.00 0.00 (ACRE-FEET) 0.00 0.73

AF 0.00 8.36 8.98 30.71 0.00 0.00 48.05
Peak 719.00

100% 100% 100%
Corrected 0.00 2724.00 2926.00 10007.00 0.00 0.00 15657.00 48.05 (ACRE-FEET)

DATE READ
6/01/2025 430.00

GROSS 
DIVERSION 

(AF)

NET 
DIVERSION 

(AF)

NET 
PRODUCTIO

N (AF)

YTD NET 
PRODUCTION 

(AF)
6/30/2025 444.00

17.34 16.17 17.34 184.62
Total 
Recirc (ccf)

14.00

31.44 31.44 31.44 60.57
Total 
Recirc (AF)

0.03

48.78 47.61 48.78 245.19
0.00

Diversion: Total volume diverted from creek underflow storage (gross); Total volume diverted under the CCSD's licenses (net)

Santa Rosa Total

Advanced Water Treatment Plant
SS & SR TOTAL

BACKWASH TOTAL

Meter Correction Factors from Calibration done

San Simeon Total

Mitigation Both Creeks 
(galx1000)

WELLS (galx1000)

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT JUNE DIVERSION

*Raw totals

ANALYZER METER

278



YEAR SOURCE JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC ANNUAL 
TOTAL

YEAR

91% 97% 93% 87% 89% 90%

S.S. 39.47 34.04 36.42 38.55 18.53 16.17 1.82 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 185.00
S.R. 1.11 0.06 0.94 0.56 26.47 31.44 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 60.57

SS & SR TOTAL 40.59 34.10 37.36 39.11 44.99 47.61 1.82 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 245.57
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 35.76 31.01 36.76 36.47 37.36 12.09 35.11 22.00 8.64 20.26 40.59 40.26 356.28
S.R. 1.60 1.69 0.92 0.65 3.87 34.80 17.64 27.82 37.29 26.46 0.16 0.83 153.71

SS & SR TOTAL 37.35 32.69 37.68 37.12 41.23 46.89 52.75 49.81 45.93 46.72 40.69 41.08 510.00
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 34.88 33.18 30.27 37.48 35.36 32.09 35.66 29.96 29.01 14.94 40.76 43.02 396.61
S.R. 0.40 0.48 4.22 0.94 5.22 12.21 15.91 18.09 16.06 31.66 2.73 0.89 108.80

SS & SR TOTAL 35.28 33.66 34.50 38.42 40.57 44.30 51.57 48.05 45.07 46.60 43.49 43.91 505.42
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 13.35 35.93 40.71 39.95 43.22 33.05 26.13 19.40 13.74 17.92 31.27 36.45 351.11
S.R. 23.95 0.04 0.03 0.04 0.05 11.17 23.27 27.59 28.77 25.30 7.44 0.32 147.98

SS & SR TOTAL 37.30 35.97 40.74 39.99 43.27 44.22 49.41 46.98 42.50 43.22 38.71 36.77 499.09
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 31.92 26.91 34.69 36.88 36.41 34.84 31.03 30.49 31.75 27.27 27.28 21.16 370.62
S.R. 9.00 10.22 8.91 9.05 12.02 14.41 20.65 16.40 11.30 14.52 11.69 16.81 155.00

SS & SR TOTAL 40.92 37.14 43.60 45.93 48.43 49.25 51.68 46.89 43.05 41.79 38.97 37.97 525.61
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 34.86 34.07 30.68 26.63 36.29 40.67 33.16 35.23 34.60 39.39 31.34 13.98 390.90
S.R. 4.10 5.37 6.32 8.97 7.21 7.77 19.10 17.85 14.22 10.67 12.61 27.85 142.04

SS & SR TOTAL 38.96 39.43 37.00 35.60 43.50 48.44 52.25 53.08 48.82 50.06 43.95 41.83 532.93
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 34.49 23.50 24.82 33.30 35.07 36.17 41.98 39.45 36.02 37.32 33.64 26.26 402.00
S.R. 3.25 9.73 13.89 8.50 7.75 10.16 10.80 10.45 11.12 11.42 11.15 13.78 122.00

SS & SR TOTAL 37.74 33.23 38.71 41.80 42.81 46.33 52.78 49.91 47.13 48.74 44.78 40.05 524.00
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 14.65 15.73 24.97 32.09 38.50 38.30 32.13 21.54 17.99 12.97 12.65 30.43 291.97
S.R. 30.09 23.61 13.23 6.96 5.02 7.89 22.00 30.88 27.67 31.81 30.59 10.11 239.85

SS & SR TOTAL 44.74 39.34 38.20 39.05 43.52 46.19 54.13 52.42 45.67 44.78 43.24 40.54 531.82
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 31.85 18.62 40.94 45.34 46.26 34.05 22.86 16.93 23.78 26.18 20.90 22.54 350.25
S.R. 6.97 14.54 6.02 9.89 18.14 28.49 32.63 32.27 16.96 12.25 20.29 21.27 219.72

SS & SR TOTAL 38.82 33.17 46.95 55.23 64.40 62.55 55.49 49.20 40.74 38.43 41.19 43.81 569.97
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

S.S. 16.21 8.82 19.61 21.27 24.30 28.06 28.37 26.49 26.02 6.49 5.66 21.53 232.83
S.R. 18.10 27.70 16.92 15.76 15.92 13.96 20.53 18.31 16.92 34.50 31.75 18.46 248.83

SS & SR TOTAL 34.31 36.53 36.52 37.03 40.21 42.02 48.90 44.80 42.94 40.99 37.42 39.98 481.66
AWTP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 10.33 7.04 5.70 23.07

S.S. 19.95 16.65 17.16 17.79 16.18 14.14 15.14 17.39 20.36 26.17 23.74 21.23 225.89
S.R. 14.77 14.90 20.53 20.68 20.99 26.51 29.51 27.78 21.94 16.05 13.57 13.90 241.13

SS & SR TOTAL 34.72 31.55 37.69 38.47 37.17 40.65 44.65 45.17 42.30 42.22 37.31 35.13 467.02
AWTP 5.55 14.34 12.49 7.61 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.68 8.07 6.29 10.89 68.92

S.S. 22.93 16.97 24.90 25.03 19.39 14.40 11.94 0.00 0.76 24.32 13.74 23.81 198.17
S.R. 34.69 19.85 10.00 10.44 18.88 24.19 30.89 43.09 36.26 12.06 18.63 9.62 268.59

SS & SR TOTAL 57.62 36.82 34.90 35.47 38.27 38.59 42.82 43.09 37.01 36.37 32.36 33.44 466.76

20
19

20
19

20
22

20
14

20
14

20
22

20
23

20
23

20
16

20
16

20
15

20
15

20
24

20
24

20
17

20
21

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NET WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

20
17

DIFFERENCE
3.23 1.40 -0.32 1.99 3.76 0.72

20
18

20
18

20
20

20
20

(Current YR - Previous YR)

20
21

20
25

20
25

279



YEAR SOURCE JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC ANNUAL 
TOTAL

YEAR

91% 97% 93% 87% 89% 90%

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NET WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

S.S. 50.55 47.40 54.72 55.27 63.18 46.01 60.82 72.32 57.73 29.84 26.72 28.61 593.16
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.27 5.28 27.57 18.12 3.50 7.62 22.56 25.38 25.61 139.91

SS & SR TOTAL 50.55 47.40 54.72 59.54 68.45 73.58 78.94 75.82 65.35 52.40 52.11 54.22 733.07

S.S. 50.12 48.09 52.60 50.52 60.06 56.53 48.17 41.12 36.72 42.22 48.70 50.88 585.73
S.R. 3.54 0.79 0.00 0.66 1.44 11.14 27.95 33.22 29.98 21.43 8.86 0.00 139.01

SS & SR TOTAL 53.66 48.88 52.60 51.18 61.50 67.67 76.12 74.34 66.70 63.65 57.56 50.88 724.74

S.S. 48.05 43.36 45.17 52.11 53.94 49.27 60.52 55.52 45.40 45.67 46.28 51.87 597.16
S.R. 0.00 0.70 0.00 0.76 6.65 11.03 12.97 14.82 19.45 14.15 5.19 0.00 85.72

SS & SR TOTAL 48.05 44.06 45.17 52.87 60.59 60.30 73.49 70.34 64.85 59.82 51.47 51.87 682.88

S.S. 45.44 40.48 47.48 48.39 56.26 55.29 50.73 44.58 35.05 37.61 36.14 36.45 533.90
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.77 0.62 0.68 8.74 21.96 27.30 32.52 21.71 14.48 9.73 138.51

SS & SR TOTAL 45.44 40.48 48.25 49.01 56.94 64.03 72.69 71.88 67.57 59.32 50.62 46.18 672.41

S.S. 28.17 37.57 50.95 58.52 48.56 37.47 48.80 40.69 31.99 44.62 53.05 46.55 526.94
S.R. 24.83 3.81 0.00 0.00 13.53 26.06 25.21 34.10 32.64 11.02 0.00 1.34 172.54

SS & SR TOTAL 53.00 41.38 50.95 58.52 62.09 63.53 74.01 74.79 64.63 55.64 53.05 47.89 699.48

S.S. 43.35 45.35 51.55 52.59 40.45 33.03 40.15 47.57 47.24 41.53 21.47 25.41 489.69
S.R. 2.33 0.67 0.71 2.20 24.69 33.55 32.94 24.87 18.26 21.03 32.21 24.46 217.92

SS & SR TOTAL 45.68 46.02 52.26 54.79 65.14 66.58 73.09 72.44 65.50 62.56 53.68 49.87 707.61

S.S. 57.70 47.45 56.47 60.50 56.11 51.21 55.95 63.48 58.72 37.58 34.83 38.61 618.61
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.60 1.81 14.47 22.24 23.47 12.37 5.29 18.70 21.20 9.42 129.57

SS & SR TOTAL 57.70 47.45 57.07 62.31 70.58 73.45 79.42 75.85 64.01 56.28 56.03 48.03 748.18

S.S. 50.81 49.10 48.82 49.65 60.58 65.65 56.12 59.67 52.49 42.86 34.46 42.75 612.96
S.R. 0.00 0.78 0.00 0.62 0.74 2.56 23.58 20.72 20.17 23.88 26.46 13.63 133.14

SS & SR TOTAL 50.81 49.88 48.82 50.27 61.32 68.21 79.70 80.39 72.66 66.74 60.92 56.38 746.10

S.S. 50.05 46.16 51.09 55.01 65.70 68.81 80.52 61.60 48.71 47.08 40.83 36.70 652.26
S.R. 0.00 0.62 0.93 0.76 0.76 0.73 1.64 17.32 20.25 21.69 16.92 7.36 88.98

SS & SR TOTAL 50.05 46.78 52.02 55.77 66.46 69.54 82.16 78.92 68.96 68.77 57.75 44.06 741.24

S.S. 55.83 51.40 58.56 64.33 67.98 52.62 47.04 39.68 41.06 34.80 49.30 49.92 612.52
S.R. 0.00 0.61 1.17 4.84 8.68 22.08 30.80 36.30 27.32 24.95 1.73 1.63 160.11

SS & SR TOTAL 55.83 52.01 59.73 69.17 76.66 74.70 77.84 75.98 68.38 59.75 51.03 51.55 772.63

S.S. 52.73 49.97 57.35 58.32 62.82 68.22 65.05 63.34 58.91 67.08 56.20 48.84 708.83
S.R. 0.70 1.11 0.48 0.94 1.84 5.63 19.77 22.04 16.00 6.58 3.12 5.84 84.05

SS & SR TOTAL 53.43 51.08 57.83 59.26 64.66 73.85 84.82 85.38 74.91 73.66 59.32 54.68 792.88

S.S. 54.43 52.23 60.70 65.43 60.75 55.13 66.79 73.35 66.59 62.03 56.36 53.98 727.77
S.R. 1.28 1.27 1.10 1.11 14.82 22.79 19.54 9.67 3.52 4.02 2.04 0.55 81.71

SS & SR TOTAL 55.71 53.50 61.80 66.54 75.57 77.92 86.33 83.02 70.11 66.05 58.40 54.53 809.48

S.S. 56.16 48.05 55.92 60.69 73.30 77.51 85.01 78.50 53.45 56.21 48.16 52.29 745.25
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5.78 21.08 16.87 8.06 0.89 52.68

SS & SR TOTAL 56.16 48.05 55.92 60.69 73.30 77.51 85.01 84.28 74.53 73.08 56.22 53.18 797.93

S.S. 56.41 50.43 55.27 65.40 70.84 73.60 85.00 84.68 73.30 65.60 58.49 59.80 798.82
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

SS & SR TOTAL 56.41 50.43 55.27 65.40 70.84 73.60 85.00 84.68 73.30 65.60 58.49 59.80 798.82

S.S. 56.40 45.26 52.16 57.40 70.43 71.35 85.41 82.68 69.45 68.04 57.78 57.69 774.05
S.R. 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.04 0.02 0.07 0.01 0.02 0.32 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.53

SS & SR TOTAL 56.41 45.27 52.17 57.44 70.45 71.42 85.42 82.70 69.77 68.06 57.78 57.69 774.58

S.S. 44.39 46.36 47.00 50.53 56.43 63.43 77.75 80.30 68.35 66.58 54.06 52.13 707.31
S.R. 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.09 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.16

20
00

20
00

99
8

99
8

20
07

20
07

20
13

20
13

20
12

20
12

20
11

20
11

20
10

20
10

20
09

20
09

20
08

20
08

20
01

20
01

20
06

20
06

20
05

20
05

19
99

19
99

20
04

20
04

20
03

20
03

20
02

20
02

280



YEAR SOURCE JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC ANNUAL 
TOTAL

YEAR

91% 97% 93% 87% 89% 90%

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NET WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

SS & SR TOTAL 44.40 46.37 47.01 50.54 56.43 63.44 77.76 80.39 68.36 66.58 54.06 52.13 707.47

S.S. 50.61 49.20 65.66 68.65 76.18 79.14 82.31 57.02 37.32 27.50 38.96 45.96 678.51
S.R. 0.02 0.08 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.38 25.92 31.54 36.85 12.41 0.01 107.29

SS & SR TOTAL 50.63 49.28 65.68 68.67 76.20 79.16 82.69 82.94 68.86 64.35 51.37 45.97 785.80

S.S. 46.66 43.40 47.39 56.95 66.18 70.83 75.70 77.27 68.23 65.58 50.37 49.43 717.99
S.R. 0.01 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.26

SS & SR TOTAL 46.67 43.43 47.42 56.98 66.21 70.84 75.73 77.29 68.24 65.60 50.39 49.45 718.25

S.S. 41.30 41.10 47.10 52.14 53.50 59.00 74.70 74.10 65.40 64.70 55.30 47.60 675.94
S.R. 1.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.90

SS & SR TOTAL 43.20 41.10 47.10 52.14 53.50 59.00 74.70 74.10 65.40 64.70 55.30 47.60 677.84

S.S. 47.00 38.60 48.60 52.00 54.60 63.40 69.30 47.80 31.70 30.80 28.20 26.00 538.00
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.10 0.00 0.00 25.00 30.20 27.70 21.20 19.90 124.10

SS & SR TOTAL 47.00 38.60 48.60 52.00 54.70 63.40 69.30 72.80 61.90 58.50 49.40 45.90 662.10

S.S. 50.10 45.70 52.60 56.30 68.30 68.80 68.10 69.80 59.80 56.10 51.40 43.50 690.50
S.R. 0.50 0.30 0.00 0.00 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.90

SS & SR TOTAL 50.60 46.00 52.60 56.30 68.40 68.80 68.10 69.80 59.80 56.10 51.40 43.50 691.40

S.S. 45.30 42.20 45.90 55.20 64.00 58.10 44.90 41.80 35.00 32.80 34.00 43.10 542.30
S.R. 0.80 0.30 0.10 0.40 0.50 6.10 22.70 28.10 26.30 25.10 19.50 5.50 135.40

SS & SR TOTAL 46.10 42.50 46.00 55.60 64.50 64.20 67.60 69.90 61.30 57.90 53.50 48.60 677.70

S.S. 26.90 23.10 32.70 39.60 48.60 44.10 40.10 34.80 30.50 28.00 26.40 30.10 404.90
S.R. 15.30 13.10 0.50 0.10 0.10 5.50 15.00 21.60 20.20 21.00 19.70 18.70 150.80

SS & SR TOTAL 42.20 36.20 33.20 39.70 48.70 49.60 55.10 56.40 50.70 49.00 46.10 48.80 555.70

S.S. 45.70 47.00 55.28 44.75 31.46 32.34 40.00 38.00 31.91 31.40 29.40 29.90 457.14
S.R. 8.70 0.80 0.50 18.03 32.30 26.79 22.30 22.20 20.64 20.20 19.30 14.90 206.66

SS & SR TOTAL 54.40 47.80 55.78 62.78 63.76 59.13 62.30 60.20 52.55 51.60 48.70 44.80 663.80

S.S. 51.00 47.90 53.90 61.90 57.20 62.20 69.20 60.90 36.30 38.70 42.60 40.60 622.40
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 13.80 13.50 17.90 28.00 42.00 22.60 17.60 18.20 174.60

SS & SR TOTAL 51.00 47.90 53.90 62.90 71.00 75.70 87.10 88.90 78.30 61.30 60.20 58.80 797.00

S.S. 51.20 57.90 63.20 47.30 57.40 44.20 50.00 51.70 41.90 37.40 27.40 36.00 565.60
S.R. 0.00 0.00 0.00 16.30 15.70 30.70 31.20 34.90 36.00 34.90 35.20 19.00 253.90

SS & SR TOTAL 51.20 57.90 63.20 63.60 73.10 74.90 81.20 86.60 77.90 72.30 62.60 55.00 819.50

S.S. 41.51 41.30 48.40 63.00 68.80 63.80 66.10 62.90 49.90 36.40 32.90 42.30 617.31
S.R. 10.20 3.80 0.00 0.00 2.00 13.80 22.40 26.00 28.80 35.60 19.30 6.59 168.49

SS & SR TOTAL 51.71 45.10 48.40 63.00 70.80 77.60 88.50 88.90 78.70 72.00 52.20 48.89 785.8019
87

19
87

Net diversion totals reported 2016 to current. Previous years are gross totals and may include water volumes also reported under riparian statements.

19 19

19
88

19
88

19
92

19
92

19
91

19
91

19
90

19
90

19
89

19
89

19
93

19
93

19
96

19
96

19
94

19
94

19
95

19
95

19
97

19
97

281



8A 
CCSD REPORT FOR THE FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

June 16, 2025 
 

The Finance Committee meeting was called to order by Chair Scott at 9:00 am. Committee members present: Keith 
Hinrichsen, Scott McCann, Karen Chrisman, and Steven Rau. Committee member Alice Wysocki has withdrawn 
from the committee for personal reasons.  We will miss her presence and input at our meetings. 
 
Staff present: General Manager Matthew, McElhenie, Administrative Department Manager Denise Fritz, and 
Confidential Administrative Assistant Haley Dodson. 
 
The Chair reminded the Committee members that a joint Finance and Resources & Infrastructure meeting is 
planned for June 25th for a tour of the Waste Water Treatment Plant, a tour of Lift Station B4, and a 
demonstrations of the AMI process.   
 
Ad Hoc Subcommittee Reports 
The Vets Hall Ad Hoc Subcommittee which now consists of Committee members Hinrichsen since Ms. 
Wysocki has withdrawn from the Finance Committee has not met. Another member of the Committee will be 
assigned at next month’s meeting.  
In addition, Committee member Hinrichsen requested whether it would be appropriate for him to relinquish his 
position on the Long Range Financial Planning Ad Hoc since he is on the Vet’s Hall Ad Hoc. There will be a 
discussion at the next Finance Committee meeting to ascertain if the Long Term Financial Planning Ad Hoc is 
necessary at this time.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
There was no public comment. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
The April 14, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes were adopted as written. 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
4.A.  Review and Discuss the FY2025/2026 Preliminary Budget 
Ms. Fritz gave a comprehensive review of the Preliminary Budget. There have already been some minor 
changes based on the Board’s June Board Meeting review of the document. The Committee members expressed 
appreciation for the Budget Narrative Summary which clarified several issues for them. There was ongoing 
discussion how the Property Taxes are allocated to the various departments. In addition, the discussion covered 
the Administrative Cost Allocation which is based on the relatively new policy formulated by the previous 
Finance Committee and approved by the Board. Ms. Fritz explained what would be the changes between the 
Preliminary and Final Budgets. The Capital Improvement Program (CPI) document was reviewed and questions 
and clarifications were answered and explained. 

 
4.B. Discussion Regarding the Investment Report for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2025 
Ms. Fritz presented the Investment Report to the Committee members, giving highlights of the report. She 
described the recent history of the District’s relatively new relationship with Optimized Investment Partners and 
the benefits that the District has realized with our investments. One Committee members voiced a desire to have 
the District’s long term financial partner, Waterworth Wealth Advisors, make a presentation to the Finance 
Committee for better understanding of the District’s goals for the future.    
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEM(S) 
The Committee suggested the following future agenda items: 

1. Appointments to the Ad Hoc Committee for the Vet’s Hall 
2. Appointment for the Finance Committee Secretary 

282



8A 
3. Presentation by Waterworth Wealth Advisors on the District’s long term planning 
4. Discussion and consideration of the CCSD 2025/2026 Final Budget  

 
 
ADJOURN 
The meeting was adjourned the meeting at 11:45 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted by Debra Scott, Chair, Finance Committee. 

283



8C 

Page 1 of 2  Updated 2025-06-25 

PROS Committee Report for the July 10, 2025 CCSD Board Meeting 
The CCSD Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Committee held a Special Meeting Wednesday, June 18, 
2025, 2-4 PM, in person at the Vets Hall and via Zoom.  We had a quorum, with all Committee Members 
present: Mark Glanzman, Matt Jaffe, Gary Stephenson, Shannon Sutherland and Jeff Wilson.  PROS Committee 
Chair Thomas presided over the meeting.  Due to this meeting overlapping with Meet the GM, GM McElhenie 
attended a portion of the meeting.   
Public Present: Tony Church, Laura and Crosby Swartz, Gail Lampert-Thomas, and Nick Morris.  On Zoom: 
Karin Argano, Kitty Connolly, and CCSD Directors Karen Dean and Harry Farmer.   
Chair Report, Chair Thomas provided an update of recent CCSD business: the new East Ranch public 
restroom is open as of June 6; at the June 12 meeting the Board approved the Preliminary Budget for Fiscal 
Year 2025-2026; and the July 1 weed abatement deadline is rapidly approaching.  Chair Thomas also 
commented about the upcoming Microsoft Teams meeting Friday, June 20, 2-4 PM providing an opportunity to 
comment on the draft North Coast San Luis Obispo Regional Ecological Strategy for Improving Landscapes 
(SLO-RESIL) Project Specific Analysis (PSA) which is now available for public review at https://www.us-
ltrcd.org/fire-prevention-and-forest-health. 
In Agenda Review, Chair Thomas commented that since this is the Special Meeting focused on revisiting the 
PROS Committee Goals, we will skip the usual reports today, and that Public Comment must be limited to the 
items on the agenda. 
On the Consent Agenda, starting 2:10 PM, the May 15, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes were approved with 1 
minor correction.    
Regular Business, 4A: Mural for the new Community Park Restroom, starting at 2:17 PM: Chair Thomas 
introduced Gail Lampert-Thomas, Chair of the Cambria Center for the Arts (CCA) Education Committee that 
has responsibility for Community Outreach matters.   
Gail Lampert-Thomas provided a brief history of CCA involvement in past efforts creating murals on the 
Sheffield Street restroom, Cutruzzola Cellars, and other buildings in Cambria. CCA is offering to provide 
design, all materials and the painting of mural(s) on the restroom as a community service at no cost to the 
CCSD.  The following ideas were brainstormed by the committee and the public: 

• Bright, Colorful, Contemporary  
• Native American influence, Salinan and Chumash - contact Cambria Historical Society 
• Nature, flowers, Monterey pine trees, local animals, egrets, owls, fox, squirrels, deer 
• Cultural/ historical use of the site, rodeo, horse drawn carts 
• Dogs, the dog park 
• Steelhead in the Creek 
• Potentially both inside and outside, doors? 

There was some discussion regarding using the painting of a mural as a potential fundraising event.  FFRP 
Executive Director Kitty Connolly clarified the limitations in the Conservation Easement prohibiting 
fundraising on the Preserve. 
Shannon Sutherland volunteered as liaison to work with the CCA as they develop a plan to bring to the PROS 
Committee and to the Board prior to engaging the community or initiating action. 
Public Comments on this Agenda Item from Laura Swartz, Tony Church, and Kitty Connolly. 
Regular Business, 4.B Discuss and update the PROS Goals, starting at 2:44 PM: 
Chair Thomas introduced this item, the continuation of discussion started at the last meeting and asked Vice 
Chair Shannon Sutherland to lead the discussion to update the goals we hope to achieve over the next year or 

284

https://www.us-ltrcd.org/fire-prevention-and-forest-health
https://www.us-ltrcd.org/fire-prevention-and-forest-health


8C 

Page 2 of 2  Updated 2025-06-25 

so.   Vice Chair Shannon Sutherland suggested we align our goals with the various components of the 
Community Park Plan.  Key points of the discussion: 
Due to limited CCSD resources, funding will need to come from grants, donations and other fundraising efforts. 
At 2:52 PM, GM McElhenie joined the discussion, explained that staff submitted the Pre-Application Meeting 
request.  The County replied that a Pre-Application Meeting was not necessary, that with an approved Coastal 
Development Permit (CDP), the CCSD should submit a Land Use Modification Application.  Staff submitted a 
Land Use Modification Application along with the information the Community Park Plan Ad Hoc Committee 
provided.   Potential concerns include floodplain, location of park components, and setbacks   Depending on the 
outcome of County review, once approved, the GM will bring this back to the PROS Committee.   Once any 
County concerns are resolved, the PROS Committee would bring this to the Board for adoption of the 
Community Park Plan. 
As the discussion progressed, PROS Committee Members volunteered as the Directly Responsible Individuals 
(DRI) to develop design and plans fundraising for construction and maintenance of the following Community 
Park Components: 

• Picnic Areas: Gary Stephenson is the overall DRI for Picnic Areas, including tables, benches, 
gazebo(s), etc.  Jeff Wilson volunteered to take the lead for corn hole and horseshoes. 

• Disc Golf: Mark Glanzman 
• Volleyball Court: Jeff Wilson 
• Landscaping, including signage and pathways, including the loop trail: Shannon Sutherland 
• An integrative role of outreach, marketing and coordination of resources: Matt Jaffe 

Due to their larger, more complex scope, the Children’s Playground and the Playing Field were not assigned at 
this time. 
Public Comments on this Agenda Item from Kitty Connolly, Nick Morris, Laura Swartz, and Tony Church. 
5. Future Agenda Items, starting at 3:58 PM: 

• Each DRI will present what they have so far on their Community Park components. 
• Laura Swartz asked for keeping the OS in PROS. 
• Kitty Connolly would like the PROS Committee to consider the budget for Ranch Maintenance, and 

consider asking CCSD to restore the budget to historical levels. 
6. Adjourn, 4:00 PM 
 
The next PROS Committee Regular Meeting is scheduled Thursday, July 17, 2025, 2-4 PM. 
Respectfully submitted, Michael Thomas, CCSD Vice President and PROS Committee Chair 

285

https://www.cambriacsd.org/2025-07-17-parks-recreation-open-space-pros-committee-meeting


8D 
Resources and Infrastructure Committee Report for July 10, 2025 CCSD Board Meeting 

The Resources and Infrastructure Committee held a regular meeting on June 16, 2025, at 2:00pm at the Cambria 
Veterans Memorial Hall, in person and via Zoom. 

Opening (2:00pm) 

Chair Karen Dean called the meeting to order at 2:00pm. A quorum was established. 

Committee members present were R&I Committee Chair Karen Dean, Vice Chair Steven Siebuhr, and 
Committee members Donn Howell and Jim Grimaud. Committee Secretary Jim Webb and Committee member 
Mark Meeks were both excused absences, and Committee member Donn Howell volunteered to record the 
minutes for this meeting. 

Staff members present were General Manager Matthew McElhenie, Confidential Administrative Assistant 
Haley Dodson, Utilities Department Manager James Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper, Water Systems 
Supervisor Cody Meeks, and Administrative Technician Eric Johnson (remote). 

There were no members of the public attending in person. Mr Crosby Swartz was in attendance via Zoom. 

Chair Report (2:01pm). 

Chair Dean gave some brief updates on various items that took place since the May R&I meeting. The East 
Ranch restroom is now open, the weed abatement deadline is July 1, there will be a Special CCSD Board 
Meeting on July 17 to order the contractor weed abatement on the parcels that were still unabated. The 
California Coastal Commission has announced that Senior Environmental Scientist Tom Luster has retired after 
24 years of service. The Chili Cook-Off Fundraiser put on by the Fire Department was a big success, 
approximately $8,400 was raised for the skatepark. Fire Department Shift B won the chili competition, Shift A 
was second place, and Shift C took third place. The Special R&I Meeting on June 27 is being cancelled, the 
agenda item on the RFP for the Stuart St tank construction is being rescheduled for the July 14th  R&I meeting. 

Committee member Howell asked about the relationship between CalFire and CCSD Fire in regards to weed 
abatement and the July 1st  deadline. CalFire has responsibility over the area, they can inspect developed 
properties for defensible space, can cite and reinspect, and eventually forward a misdemeanor to the county. The 
DA’s office isn’t pursuing those, but the District’s ordinance now allows enforcing the developed parcel 
defensible space under the administrative citation program, which can be $100 a day until it is remedied.  

Public Comment: Mr Swartz brought up the 2025 UWMP that will be due soon, and that it is usually done using 
a consultant. He recommended that the R&I Committee review the information that will be submitted to the 
consultant, especially in regards to the WRF.  

Committee Member Communications: There were none. 

Utilities Department Report (2:09pm) 

Utilities Department Manager Jim Green reported the following. 

• RFP was released on June 13 for Stuart St Tank construction, pre-bid meeting with contractors will be 
June 26, bid opening July 11, it will be brought before R&I on July 14 for review, and to the Board at the 
Special Meeting on July 17 for the Resolution. CDP and permitting is done, and per the EPA 
representative, the funding should be just around the corner. Utilities staff would like to do some public 

286



8D 
outreach on this project, knocking on doors and talking to neighbors, putting up signs or banners 
announcing the project and approximate timeline, and with the EPA’s permission, the EPA  logo can be on 
those signs in recognition of the grant. Staff will bring the banners or signs before R&I in July. 

• Temporary repairs have been done on Lift Station B4. Geo and biological have been done, waiting for 
those reports. There is still some environmental reporting and surveying that needs to be completed, and 
then these reports can go to County Planning for the CDP and discussions regarding CEQA and a 
Mitigated Negative Declaration. Groundbreaking is not expected before next year. Staff is currently 
searching for funding for the project, there is approximately $1.2M in the SST funds for this lift station 
but it will be a $2.7M lift station replacement project. 

• Inspections were performed on the East Ranch Restroom and it passed for temporary operations of the 
restroom. County Planning is reviewing  the photos of all steps of this project, from pre-groundbreaking 
through completion, once those are approved the final permit will be issued for full operation of the 
restroom. 

• The Rodeo Grounds generator delivery is due, but it looks like it maybe another two weeks before it is 
received. The automatic transfer switch has been put in, so Alpha Electric is ready to install the generator 
when it arrives. 

• The Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP) update is overdue, staff has a draft of that, are reviewing it 
internally, and it will be brought to R&I for review. The Sanitary Sewer Management Plan is a mandatory 
regulatory compliance document that requires agencies to identify and control sewer overflow events. 

• Construction permits for the wastewater plant EV charger have been approved, the equipment has been 
received, and waiting on scheduling the installation with Alpha Electric. A second Ford Lighting EV truck 
is on order for the on-call wastewater operator, but not expected to be available until November. 

• Geotechnical and civil engineering has been performed for the SR4 well access road, ground breaking is 
expected in July. 

• Santa Rosa Creek Instream Flow Study is going well. Some pump testing was done in May, and the 
consultants are reaching out to the upstream agricultural users to see what their pumping rates are.  

• Still waiting for the encroachment easement from CalTrans for the San Simeon transmission line 
replacement. 

• The Asterra Leak Detection Satellite has passed over Cambria and gathered images. It looks like 17 or 18 
points of interest were found, and  a “boots on the ground” inspection with Asterra and some of the CCSD 
water staff has been scheduled for July 14, and a report will be brought to R&I in August. 

• The District has committed to the purchase of EV tractor, and are looking at receiving it the end of July if 
not sooner. The CORE voucher for the tractor was obtained in 2024 prior to tariffs, so staff is working 
with the owner of Sierra Equipment to see if the 3% tariff can be waived.  

• PGE has completed negotiations with Cushman as the contractor for the wastewater department SST 
projects, as well as with Smith Electrical. Quite a bit of repair work has been underway with various 
components of the wastewater treatment plant on the clarifiers, aeration basin, blowers equalization tanks, 
etc. The new plant generator is onsite, and groundbreaking for the installation of it is about to begin. This 
will mean the main access gates to the facility will be offline during the day, and traffic plates will put in 
place at night for ingress and egress. 

Public Comment There was no public comment. 

Consideration to Approve the May 12, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes (2:21pm) 

287



8D 
Chair Dean pointed out a misplaced comma between General Manager McElhenie’s first and last name. No 
other corrections were pointed out by the Committee members. 

Committee Member Siebuhr moved to accept the minutes with the correction noted by Chair Dean, motion 
was seconded by Committee Member Grimaud. Motion passed with 3-Ayes (Siebuhr, Grimaud, Howell); 0-
Nays; 0-Abstain; 2-Absent (Meek, Webb). 

Regular Business 

4.A. Receive and Review Information Regarding the EyeOnWater AMI Customer Portal (2:23pm) 

Utilities Department Manager Jim Green reported that Steve Orellano of Grace Environmental completed the 
installation of the AMI meters two months ahead of schedule. There is administrative work underway to 
upload all the data and complete integration in order get the AMI portal ready for customers to log on, and a 
demonstration will be brought back to R&I and put on the District website when it is ready to show the public 
how to log on and access the information regarding their water usage. Staff has set up a pilot portal with one 
community member that is a District employee, and he has been able to check out his usage down to even the 
amount of water a single toilet flush takes. Customers can go on the CCSD website cambriacsd.org, search 
for the “EyeOnWater Portal” and locate the page that describes the portal and the kinds of information it can 
provide, and also a link and instructions for setting up a user account. The customer ID located on your water 
bill and your zip code are all that is needed to set up the EyeOnWater account. 

Water Department Supervisor Cody Meeks reported that the new AMI Meter endpoints have already alerted 
staff of several leaks on the customer side which they were able to notify the property owners about.  Most of 
these leaks were actually from hose gaskets where water hose had been left on in the assumption that a nozzle 
stops the water, another one was a hose left running on a tree, there were several leaking toilets, and a 
ruptured water line on a second home. Mr Meeks emphasized that customers need to keep a minimum of 
three feet of clear space around their meter boxes, and that there are some alternatives if customers would 
like their meter box relocated, although there would be a charge for that relocation. There have been some 
instances where the meter  boxes are where cars park over them, tree roots may be taking the meter box over, 
retaining walls or sheds have been built over them, or they are in some other inconvenient location. Staff has 
relocated hundreds of these meter boxes in past years. Mr Green mentioned that these new AMI endpoints 
have an advanced tamper protection, the District is automatically notified if any part of it is tampered with. 
Customers can open the cover and look inside, but not remove or tamper with it. Committee member Howell 
asked if his understanding that the billing was done in whole units of 748 gallons was correct, and that was 
confirmed. A partial unit will not be billed until it reaches the full 748 gallon unit.  

The Consumer Confidence Report (formerly known as the Annual Water Supply Quality Report) on 
Cambria’s water supply is ready, and is available on the CCSD website, there will be physical copies at the 
Admin office, at the Chamber of Commerce, at the library, and at the wastewater plant.  

Public Comment: Mr Swartz asked about the Flume devices that many folks had installed in the past, and if 
there were any recommendations for recycling them.               Mr Green related that they have lithium 
batteries inside which can be recycled at places such as Home Depot and some other retail stores, but the 
Flume can also still be used along with the new AMI. He will look to see if there are other options for 
recycling them here in town. 

Future Agenda Items (2:40pm) 

288



8D 
Chair Dean asked for Future Agenda items, and received the below items for the Regular July 14: 

• Discus and Review Recycling Flume equipment. 
• Discuss and Review San Simeon stream flow gage relocation. 
• Discuss and Review Stuart St tank construction information banners/signs. 
• Discuss and Review results of RFP for Stuart St tank replacement construction. 
• Discuss and Review Asterra Leak Detection Survey results. 
• Discuss and Consider appointing an ad hoc committee to assist with UWMP update. 

For the July or August Agenda: 

• Discuss and Review Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP) update. 
• Santa Rosa Creek Streamflow Study update. 

Chair Dean reminds the Committee of the Joint R&I and Finance Committee Meetings on June 25. The 
LiftStation B4 tour on Green St will be at 10:30am, and the WWTP tour will be at 1:00pm. 

Adjourn (2:43pm)  

Chair Dean adjourned the meeting at 2:43pm. 

Respectfully submitted,  

CCSD Director Karen Dean, R&I Committee Chair. 

      

 

 

 

  

                                                                                                                                                                                        

289



8D 
Special June 25, 2025 Joint Meeting of CCSD Resources & Infrastructure and Finance Committees for 

Wastewater Treatment Plant Tour and AMI Meter Installation Demonstration 

A joint meeting of the CCSD Resources & Infrastructure and Finance Committees was held in person on 
Wednesday June 25, 2025, to tour the Wastewater Treatment Plant located at 5500 Heath Ln, Cambria, and to 
observe an AMI Meter Installation. The meeting was called to order at 1:00 p.m. Committee members present 
were Karen Dean, James Webb, Mark Meeks, Donn Howell, and Jim Grimaud from R&I, as well as Debra 
Scott from Finance. Staff present were Utilities Manager Jim Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper, 
Wastewater Superintendent Toni Artho, along with Water Systems Superintendent Cody Meeks and Water 
Operator Clint Conroy who joined the group for the AMI demonstration. There were four other individuals in 
attendance. 

Wastewater Superintendent Toni Artho presented an aerial view of the entire wastewater treatment system. He 
pointed out the flow of the wastewater, beginning from the influent of raw wastewater, through the wastewater 
treatment plant, and the path the treated wastewater effluent travels to the percolation ponds off San Simeon 
Creek Rd. Mr Artho was then called away to Lift Station B-4, and Utilities Manager Green and Program 
Manager Reaper stepped in to continue the discussion. A treatment plant site map was presented along with a 
diagram detailing each component of the wastewater system and the process the wastewater undertakes as it 
goes through the wastewater treatment facility. The group was then led on a tour of the plant to view each of the 
treatment components, and discussions were had on the improvements being done on the clarifiers, equalization 
tanks, aeration basins, blowers, etc.  There was quite a bit of activity at the plant as work is underway on the 
SST projects as well.  

The group then moved on to the AMI Meter presentation. Water Operator Clint Conroy, along with Water 
Systems Superintendent Cody Meeks, reviewed all the individual components of the Badger water meters and 
explained the difference between the older meter reading endpoints and the new AMI endpoints. Also discussed 
was the status of the updating of data from the AMI meters to the billing system and the EyeOnWater customer 
portal. This was followed by a demonstration of the installation of the AMI endpoint onto the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant water meter. Water Systems Superintendent Meeks followed up with a review of how to sign up 
for and access the EyeOnWater portal. 

The meeting was adjourned at 3:18 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted: CCSD Director Karen Dean, R&I Chair, and CCSD President Debra Scott, Finance 
Committee Chair. 

290



8D 
Special June 25, 2025  Joint Meeting of CCSD Resources & Infrastructure and Finance Committees for 
Lift Station B-4 Tour  

A joint meeting of the CCSD Resources & Infrastructure and Finance Committees was held in person on  
Wednesday June 25, 2025, to tour the B-4 Lift Station located at 1550 Green Street, Cambria. The meeting was 
called to order at 10:45 a.m. Committee members present were Karen Dean, James Webb, Donn Howell, and 
Jim Grimaud from R&I, as well as Debra Scott and Karen Chrisman from Finance. Staff present were General 
Manager Matthew McElhenie, Utilities Manager Jim Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper, and Wastewater 
Superintendent Toni Artho. There were two other individuals in attendance. 

Wastewater Superintendent Toni Artho gave an overview of Lift Station B-4, located at the southernmost end of 
the wastewater collection pipeline on Green St. It was built in 1976, and is oversized for the area as when it was 
constructed it was anticipated that Lodge Hill would expand to the south. Mr Artho opened the lift station lid 
and reviewed the components within the lift station, and discussed the many issues involved with its operation. 
The next lift station in the line is Lift Station B-3, on Green St just north of Ardath. B-4 is at the base of a steep 
hillside, intense storm run off causes the lift station to get inundated with large amounts of storm water influent 
and intrusion, which could  cause  more wastewater to be pumped to Lift Station B-3 than it can handle and 
cause a Sanitary Sewer Overflow, resulting in major fines. B-4 is also the most expensive of the lift stations to 
operate, in storms it may run 22 to 28 hours a week, and the electrical cost for B-4 is close to the total of all the 
other lift stations combined. The District is planning to replace and relocate the B-4 lift station north of it’s 
current location away from the steep hillside, and change the structure of the lift station so that it is a “wet well” 
design. The existing lift station requires two to three operators to be present for safety as the operator doing the 
repair has to climb down into the interior of the lift station. With a wet well design, the pumps can be raised up 
to the surface and not require operators to enter the deep lift station well. The replacement cost of LS B-4 is 
estimated at $2.7M. There is approximately $1.2M in the SST budget for this, the District is looking for funding 
to cover the rest of the cost of the project. In the meantime, the District is working on the CDP requirements 
which include environmental and geological assessments. The SCADA system for Lift Station B-4 was then 
reviewed with thorough explanations of its operations. The back up generator and fuel tank were discussed next, 
both of which are very old and in need of replacement. 

No formal action was taken. The meeting was adjourned at 11:18 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted: CCSD Director Karen Dean, R&I Chair, and CCSD President Debra Scott, Finance 
Committee Chair. 

 

 

 

291



8E 

8E - Att 01.docx Page 1 of 1 Written: June 23, 2025 

CTB June 10, 2025 Meeting Summary for the CCSD Board of Directors 
 

The Cambria Tourism Board (CTB) held a meeting June 10, 2025, 1:09-2:33 PM at the Cambria Pines Lodge.  
The meeting was called to order by Chair Greg Pacheco at 1:00 PM with CTB Board Members Jim Bahringer, 
Karen Cartwright, Steve Kniffen, and George Marschall present.  Introductions and welcome to attendees: CTB 
Managing Assistant Jill Jackson, Unincorporated County Tourism Business Improvement District (CBID) Chief 
Administrative Officer Cheryl Cuming, Archer & Hound Advertising Founder Jessica Blanchfield, Cambria 
Chamber of Commerce Director of Membership & Marketing Katherine Gillen, and CCSD Director Michael 
Thomas. 
In the Consent Agenda, the Board approved the May 13, 2025 meeting minutes. 
In Public Comment, CCSD Director Thomas provided a brief summary of recent CCSD Board activities that 
may be of interest to the CTB, highlighting the opening of the community park restroom and status of the skate 
park project. 
Jessica Blanchfield, with Archer & Hound Advertising, presented the Visit Cambria 
Annual Recap and Upcoming Fiscal Year Plans, provided visitor data, and 
emphasized the use of the Visit Cambria app and website.  One of the more visible 
aspects of the marketing campaign will be signs distributed around town promoting the 
Visit Cambria app. 
The Board renewed the contract with their current marketing partner, Archer & Hound 
Advertising, for the upcoming fiscal year, July 1 2025 through June 30, 2026.   

Steve Kniffen introduced and welcomed Katherine Gillen who started June 2, 2025 as the new Cambria 
Chamber of Commerce Director of Membership & Marketing.   Mrs. Gillen describe some of her recent 
experience where she increased membership at the Morro Bay Chamber of Commerce over 200% in just three 
years, and described some of her ideas and actions that are already underway.   
The Board received the Current Year Budget Update, the CBID Local Fund Summary and Marketing Report. 
The meeting adjourned at 2:33 PM. 
 
 
The next CTB Meeting will be July 8, 2025, at 1:00 PM.   
 
Respectfully submitted, Michael Thomas, CCSD Board of Directors 

292



8E 
Cambria Forest Committee June 13, 2025 meeting summary 
 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Crosby Swartz at 10:06 AM.  In attendance were CFC Secretary 
Christine Heinrichs, Treasurer Laura Swartz, CFC Board member Julie Jorgensen, Greenspace Executive 
Director Karin Argano, Friends of the Fiscalini Ranch Preserve (FFRP) Executive Director Kitty Connolly, 
Spencer Gordon Forestry Project Manager for Upper Salinas - Las Tablas Resource Conservation District (US-
LT RCD), Dan Turner Executive Director San Luis Obispo County Fire Safe Council, Riley Mc Farland 
Registered Professional Forester with Auten Resource Consulting (ARC), Lara Rachowicz Senior Ecologist 
with Ascent Environmental Inc, and Harry Farmer Board Director Cambria Community Services District and 
CFC liaison. 
 
The meeting began with a brief introduction by all in attendance.  This was followed by a Public Comment from 
Laura Swartz expressing her concern about the severity of weed abatement practices of the contractor hired by 
the CCSD to clear lots owned by the District, noting that at some locations most everything was cut down to the 
bare ground, while at times Scotch Broom was not removed. She questioned the training of those doing the 
work. 
 
Chair Swartz then recommended we now move to Agenda item 6.1; Discussion about the Draft Project Specific 
Analysis for SLO-RESIL., as some in attendance were present mainly to discuss this item.  Mr Gordon then 
began the discussion by stating that the upcoming project would not be much different from the work done on 
the Covell Ranch, Rancho Marino, Pico Creek and San Simeon Point.  He elaborated that these projects would 
be in a much larger area in the Coastal Zone under the RCD's jurisdiction.  Ms Jorgensen then expressed her 
concern as to the speed and scope of the project, as from her perspective it appeared, “ you are trying to do as 
much as you can as quickly as you can!”, and would it be possible to "use more caution…go a little more 
slowly…”.  She further suggested observing other projects that had been implemented and examining how these 
efforts had responded over time.   Crosby then expressed his concern as to the extremely large area being 
covered, and that he’d never seen a Project Specific Analysis (PSA) of this size in the Coastal Zone.  He 
elaborated by observing the possibility of 200 trees out of 400 trees per acres being cut down in the stated 
Project Area of 88,000 acres, and how would this effect the health of the forest.  
 
At this point Riley McFarland addressed the concerns being voiced, stating that despite the overall large number 
of acres involved, that right now current implementation plans are for about 100 acres at a time, mainly off of 
Cambria Pines Road.  He provided much detail as to, "the environmental protections and measures and surveys” 
that would have to be done even on smaller projects.  As to financial cost, he stated that getting the 88,000 acres 
covered under one permit would be far more efficient than obtaining numerous permits for each individual 
project, which would mean  spending a much greater amount of taxpayer dollars.  Also, he remarked that of the 
88,000 acres, not all was Monterey Pine forest, including areas covered by various non forested habitat. 
 
After Riley’s extensive and thoughtful comments, Spencer Gordon further elaborated by saying he totally 
understood the basic concerns regarding tree removal, and “once you take things away you can’t bring them 
back.”  He added there are long term research plots scattered throughout Cambria, and that RCD is consistently 
monitoring and learning from the work that’s being done, including the Covell Ranch and Rancho Marino. 
 
Greenspace ED Karin Argano then spoke about the upcoming project in Strawberry Canyon that would 

293



8E 
hopefully begin in July, and that in working with Spencer and Riley Greenspace has total autonomy in 
determining what is and isn’t being done in the Canyon, from removal of trees and plants, to biological studies, 
and so forth.  She added this was being modeled after the nearby Rancho Marino project, where, "the work done 
has really made a difference in the health of the forest”, and that in Strawberry Canyon the focus would be on 
dead and dying trees, and hopefully no other trees would have to be taken out.  She also remarked on the 
positive nature the permitting process, and how covering the large number of acres would be financially 
beneficial to non profits such as Greenspace and FFRP.  
 
Lara Rachowicz then spoke to the regional nature of various projects, figuring out which are more important, 
and that the pace would not be much greater than has already taken place in the past few years.  She added, "it 
would be much easier to obtain grant funding once CEQA and Coastal Act authorization has been obtained for 
the whole area.”  She also said there’s been much coordination with the various Federal and State biological 
Agencies as well as California Coastal Commission staff who are “supportive and comfortable with this” 
endeavor.  She then provided a brief but detailed visual presentation of the project document titled, “North 
Coastal San Luis Obispo County Regional Ecological Strategies for Improving Landscapes (SLO-RESIL). 
 
Upon conclusion of the presentation, Laura Swartz expressed her concern that private landowners would not be 
as knowledgeable or concerned about the welfare of the forested lands and the work being done as groups such 
as Greenspace or FFRP.  Crosby then remarked that there doesn’t seem to be an accounting for the number of 
trees that need to be removed.  He added that trees absorb carbon dioxide, which is a good thing, and fewer 
trees means less absorption of CO2.  Therefore, the thinning of the forests and reducing the absorption of 
carbon dioxide is counterproductive for the health of the environment.  Lara responded by stating research has 
led to conflicting results as to carbon absorption by trees, that fewer trees can lead to larger trees and greater 
CO2 absorption, plus removing aging trees that are absorbing less CO2 is helpful as well. And while Crosby 
then concurred that this was an area of some disagreement, there needs to be more evidence provided in the 
SLO-RESIL document.  Riley remarked that this topic is a very complicated aspect of the projects being 
addressed, as is forest management in general.  He added there has been an incredible and unprecedented 
amount of carbon being released in the massive fires in California over the past 10-20 years that needs to be 
considered when we talk about future treatment of the forests, especially as forests cannot regenerate naturally 
due to the excessive fires continuing to occur. He sees the treatments being considered as “the lower intensity 
option”.  For example, Riley alluded to the work that has been done on the Covell Ranch that has encouraged 
natural regeneration of the forest.  
 
Dan Turner then spoke to the issue, stating it’s best not to focus on just one aspect of forest health, and “this 
isn’t rocket science, forestry is more complicated than rocket science”.  For example, he noted that tree spacing 
has been useful in lessening the spread of various diseases such as pitch canker, western gall rust and 
mistletoe.  He added different levels of treatment have been implemented for over a decade to see how the 
forest has responded, and varying techniques and treatments have been used locally for specific site conditions, 
from San Simeon Point, to Covell Ranch and Rancho Marino, as well as work being considered in Strawberry 
Canyon.  FFRP ED Connolly then spoke to the situation, saying that on the Ranch they’re having all sorts of 
difficulty coming up with a specific treatment plan because so many areas are different, and they each need a 
different way of being addressed.  But then she added that since 2019 the understory had regenerated, the pines 
were doing well, and recently she noticed the oaks were recovering and growing very well having been limbed 
up so the deer were no longer nibbling on them.  As a result, she feels very hopeful moving forward as to the 

294



8E 
remainder of the treatment on the Ranch.  Laura Swartz then said she’d observed the treatment on the Ranch 
had “taken out a lot of the green vegetation”, and now poison oak was growing in abundance and taken over 
where coffee berry and sticky monkey are, so that while regeneration had taken place, it has not been 
necessarily what was wanted.  Kitty confirmed that the use of wood chips has encouraged poison oak and 
raspberry, and the chips are not very helpful for the forest.  Riley then spoke to errors that may have been made 
in the past, but that Auten Resources are still endeavoring to abide by the best forest management practices, and 
therefore what is best for the land, the people and the community.  He added that the projects are so dynamic 
and complex that they need a long term approach to best address them. 
 
At this point Crosby thanked everyone for their participation on such an informative and open discussion on 
Forest Health and the various treatment practices taking place.  At this time Spencer Gordon, Lara Rachowicz, 
Dan Turner and Riley McFarland expressed their appreciation for the discussion and said goodbye. 
 
Returning back to the regular Agenda, Laura Swartz provided the Treasurer’s Report.  As of today the bank 
balance is $1635.31, $300 less than last month having paid CPA Lynne Singer and the Federal 
Government.  She also expressed appreciation to Ms Singer for continuing to assist the 501(c)3 non profits she’s 
been working with for hopefully the next couple of years. 
 
Moving on with Organizational Reports, neither representatives from the Native Plant Society or the Fire Safe 
Forest Group were present.  FFRP ED Connolly then spoke to the CCSD’s proposed Ranch Budget, saying that 
while in 2023-24 and years past the proposed budget was $50,000 a year for contractors to do work on the 
Ranch, in 2024-25 the amount has now been cut to just $15,000.  She added that Ranch management on the part 
of CCSD has changed dramatically on how weeds are being controlled and mowing is taking place, and while 
some good things continue happen, she’s concerned about how little funding is now available for contractor 
work, and that the upcoming budgeted amount for 2025-26 will only be raised slightly to $16,500.  Laura then 
remarked that a number of years ago the District had proposed hiring a Ranch Manager specifically to attend to 
Ranch needs but nothing ever came of this.  Kitty then said Carlos Mendoza had done a fine job as Ranch 
manager and was very knowledgeable, and now David Aguirre was now filling the position.  Both Kitty and 
Laura then expressed a combination of appreciation but mostly frustration as to present circumstances as to the 
District caring for the Ranch.  Kitty said the FFRP Board of Directors plans to take a “wait and see" approach in 
the coming year to see what transpires.  Crosby remarked that sometimes with a natural forest the less you do 
the better, that sometimes work is done that wasn’t needed, and most important is the control of invasive species 
and removing hazards such as fallen trees.  
 
Julie then spoke to the aspect of tourism, and how important is was to care for the Ranch to help attract visitors 
to the area.  Kitty stated the Ranch doesn’t bring any direct revenue to the CCSD, and perhaps is seen by the 
CCSD as a financial burden.  Karin Argano asked Kitty about her biggest concern, and what would not be 
getting done on the Ranch this year.  Kitty said thankfully there were no serious storms this past year, but 
nevertheless thistle and mustard were growing out of control.  She said flammability was one of her major 
concerns for the community, not just on the Fiscalini Ranch, but the Covell Ranch and elsewhere.  For a number 
of minutes attendees expressed serious concerns as to the Ranch budget issue, frustration with the problematic 
fashion in which various projects are being minimized such as trail maintenance, and other areas where it’s felt 
the CCSD decision making and action taking could be more productive.  
 

295



8E 
Greenspace ED Argano brought us up to date on GS activities, beginning with the potential start date of 
improvements in Strawberry Canyon on Tuesday, July 8th, for which she and others are super excited.  The GS 
Speaker Series continues, with Derrick Williams doing a presentation on “California Water” on Sunday 
afternoon, June 29th at 4PM at the UU Church on Arlington, part of the Greenspace Community Education 
Program.  She added that the recent "Adventure Auction was amazing, it was fun, it was a great evening, and 
we’ll do it again next year”, 
 
There were no reports from Rancho Marino Reserve or the Land Conservancy of San Luis Obispo. 
 
Crosby and Laura made some brief comments as to the District’s weed abatement program, including that the 
deadline for clearing lots is July 1st. 
 
Julie Jorgensen then addressed her discussions with Cal Fire officials and Chief Michael Burkey at Cambria 
Fire as to the maintenance of her property, and that the condition of her lot was totally acceptable to both 
agencies.  Laura then spoke to the contractor work being done in the area, and that trees have been limbed up 
creating a wind tunnel and therefore a significant fire danger. Laura and Julie further expressed their concern as 
to the severity of some of the lot clearing, and what might be on the horizon regarding weed abatement and fuel 
reduction in Fern Canyon. 
The topic of poison oak was briefly touched upon as well. 
 
The meeting was adjourned by Chair Swartz at 11:27 AM. 
 
The next Forest Committee Meeting will be on Friday, July 11, 2025 at 10AM via Zoom. 
 
This summary was written and submitted by CCSD Director and CFC liaison Harry Farmer. 

296



8E 
Water Resources Advisory Committee (WRAC) Liaison Report for July  CCSD Meeting 

May 7, 2025 WRAC Meeting. The Water Resources Advisory Committee (WRAC) met on May 7, 2025, 
1:30pm, at the SLO City/County Library Community Room in San Luis Obispo. 

The WRAC acts as an Advisory Committee under the San Luis Obispo County Flood Control and Water 
Conservation District, and advises the SLO County Board of Supervisors on water resources related to policy 
decisions, programs, conservation, and financing. 

Attendees in person and on Zoom were introduced and welcomed, an in person quorum of committee members  
was established, and the minutes from the April WRAC meeting were approved. 

The Committee reviewed and discussed the Proposed 2025/2026 San Luis Obispo County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District Budget as it pertains to regional water supply and flood management, and 
considered actions regarding the proposed budget. The budget was presented by Courtney Howard, the Water 
Resources Division Manager in the SLO County Public Works Department. Sustainability and resiliency goals 
were discussed for flood management and water supply, and how the projects and programs could be 
implemented and funded, including whether the beneficiaries of those projects might help with funding through 
zone benefit assessments or a Prop 218 process. Funding priorities were discussed starting with the existing 
regional programs and services that were already committed to by  contracts or grant programs. Some of those 
commitments/priorities are Countywide Hydrologic Data Collection of more than 50 rain and stream level sites 
and over 150 volunteer groundwater wells, new stream gage sites, development of programs for understanding 
flow at key sites, and groundwater level reporting tools in unmanaged groundwater basins. Other ongoing 
Regional Services and Commitments include managing water supply efforts through the Master Water Report 
and Data & Information Management System, the Integrated Regional Water Management Program, Salinas 
Dam Local Ownership Feasibility Planning, and Desalination Project Opportunities Planning. District financing 
needs for other County provided services related to water resources, flood management, and other sub-regional 
programs were discussed. The District is watching for possible opportunities for future rounds of Prop 4 funds. 
It was mentioned that their district has grants under 8 different grant programs, there are 10 agreements under 
those programs which represent 22  projects and $23M in grant funding. A concern was raised in regards to 
some Federal funds being pulled back for programs such as FEMA and Clean Water Acts, and whether the 
Federal financing of State projects such as these would be affected. It was responded that the District is keeping 
in touch with their contacts for each program. One grant was cancelled, and applications are being put in for 
another pot of money in order to do the regional flood study they were hoping to do, but the biggest concern 
was the FEMA funds for storm recovery.                                                    The Committee endorsed approval of 
the proposed FY 2025/2026 San Luis Obispo County Flood Control and Water Conservation District Budget. 

The Committee then received a Presentation on the Stakeholder Engagement Plan for the Desalination 
Executable Solution and Logistics (DESAL) Plan and U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBR) Feasibility Study. 
Angela Ford from SLO County Public Works gave the presentation along  with consultants Lydia Holmes from 
Carollo Engineering, and Carolyn Berg from Cobalt Collaboratives. Also present was Dan Heimel, Technical 
Lead Confluence Engineer. This project to consider possible desalination alternatives for SLO County has been 
ongoing since 2022, since that time the team has worked with other local agencies to initiate stakeholders who 
would be interested in being part of this desalination planning effort, and as a result there currently are 16 
desalination plan partners. The current work is focusing on the most viable project alternatives that would be the 
most permittable and executable. A feasibility study, following the USBR feasibility study format and 

297



8E 
requirements, is anticipated to be completed by late 2026. The planning efforts over the two years are funded 
with contributions from a USBR water smart grant, so following their format will make them compliant with 
the grant requirements and potential funding opportunities. The feasibility study needs to define siting and 
opportunity constraints, evaluate intake and discharge technologies and treatment processes, and conveyance 
options. It is hopeful that this study will provide a short list of project alternatives for interested partner agencies 
to consider if they want to carry it forward and develop the next steps. There are three goals that they want to 
pull the stakeholders into a conversation with regarding the desalination efforts. The first is to collaborate to 
identify the feasible alternatives for ocean desalination throughout the SLO region, the second is to gather 
community perspectives and agency expertise in order to provide an understanding of the needs of region and 
the understanding of the viability of those alternatives, and finally focus on collaborating and maintaining 
stakeholder partnerships.                                                The next important group of stakeholders that will need 
to be involved with looking at the viability of the feasibility study will be the regulatory and permitting 
agencies. The intent is to have small group meetings with critical regulatory agencies such as the County, State 
Water Board, Coastal Commission, Lands Commission, and others to talk through the alternative approaches 
and see what limitations and opportunities they can see for the region. There also needs to be more in depth 
discussions with Boards and Advisory Councils, with the Native American Tribes, Environmental Groups and 
Agencies, NOS (National Ocean Service), special interest groups, and interested community members. A Q&A 
from committee members followed. 

Ongoing Updates on various topics were presented, as well as a request for future agenda items. It was noted 
that staff from the Central Coast Water Board would be attending the June 4th WRAC Meeting.  The meeting 
was adjourned at 3:05 pm. 

June 4, 2025 WRAC Meeting. The Water Resources Advisory Committee (WRAC) met on June 4, 2025, 
1:30pm, at the SLO City/ County Library Community Room in San Luis Obispo. 

Attendees in person and on Zoom were introduced and welcomed. A quorum of in person Committee members 
was established, and the minutes of the May 7, 2025 WRAC Meeting were approved. 

A presentation was received from the Central Coast Water Board Chair Jane Gray and Executive Officer Ryan 
Lodge on Goals, Programs, and Projects. The Water Board’s Mission Statement was reviewed: “Preserve, 
enhance, and restore the quality of California’s drinking water for the protection of the environment, public 
health, and all beneficial uses, and to ensure proper water resource allocation and efficient use, for the benefit of 
present and future generations.” The history and background of the California Water Boards and the role of the 
nine Regional Water Quality Boards were reviewed. The State Water Resources Control Board was created in 
1967 by the legislature, they develop statewide policy, and  oversee the Division of Drinking Water and Water 
Rights. The State Boards are full time paid members, whereas the Regional Board’s are part time and are 
volunteers, Governor appointed and Senate confirmed. The Regional Water Boards oversee water quality, and 
regulates discharges of waste into the waters of the state and the United States. An overview of the Central 
Coast Regional Water Quality Board priorities was given as they relate to water quality and environmental 
justice, climate change adaptation, irrigated lands well testing and replacement drinking water (usually bottled 
water).                               The Central Coast Water Board Region includes Santa Cruz County, Southern San 
Benito County, Monterey, San Luis and Santa Barbara Counties, and parts of San Mateo, Kern, and Ventura 
Counties. Part of their work involves pollution and site clean up issues, and the  regulations and settlement 
agreements related to those. Some of their projects  include National Pollution Discharge and Elimination 
System(NPDS) and Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) for Domestic and Industrial Wastewater. They 

298



8E 
implement the Federal Rules Clean Water Act on Department of Defense (DOD) Facilities Camp Roberts and 
Camp San Luis. Site Cleanup projects include SLO Airport PFAS and Chevron Guadalupe, Land Disposal at 
Cold Canyon, Paso Robles, and Chicago Grade, and Active Oilfields at Price Canyon.  

Some of Central Coast Regional Water Board Programs include the following.                                                         
*Clean Water Act (CWA) 401 Certifications in collaboration with the federal government.                                                                                                                                             
*Stormwater Permits for Construction: Industrial, Municipal, and CalTrans projects being     done within a 
water body.                                                                                                                                          * Irrigated 
Lands Program: Agricultural irrigation is a significant source of pollution to groundwater.                                                                                                                                                   
*Central Coast Ambient Water Monitoring Program: Sampling of surface water bodies, creeks, rivers, etc to get 
a picture of water quality in different parts of the region.        *Grants: The Regional Board works with the State 
Water Board to get grant funding for local projects within their region. Some funds from enforcement actions 
taken are also used in grant programs.                                                                                                                                                   
*Well Testing: Free for domestic wells to ensure everyone in the region has safe drinking water. This is not 
restricted to underrepresented communities, but those are the most impacted by water pollution from agriculture 
discharge. 650 Wells have been tested in San Luis Obispo, northern Monterey, and Santa Cruz Counties, and 
45% of those tested exceeded standards for Nitrates, Hexavalent Chromium, Arsenic, 1,2,3-TCP, and 
Percholate. Of those 650 wells tested, 223 were in San Luis Obispo County and 24% exceeded the standards 
with arsenic being the leading pollutant, followed by nitrates. Not much data has been collected from Santa 
Barbara County as the program is just being started there, but there is a clean up site at Vandenberg as part of 
the DOD Program so they will be addressing that as well.                                                                                                                                                                    
*Drinking Water Replacement Program: This program has been in place for fifteen years, and along with the 
State Water Board, community based organizations, and agricultural communities to provide replacement water 
to folks that do not have access to clean drinking water. The Water Board is pursuing long term solutions such 
as well head treatment or consolidation of water systems.                                                                        
*CCRWQCB Irrigated Lands Order -Ag Order 4.0. This was adopted by the CCWQCB  in 2021. It was 
petitioned to the State Board by the agricultural community and the environment justice communities, and heard 
at the State Water Resource Control Board in 2023, and portions of it remanded by the State Water Board back 
to the CCRWQB in September 2023. The requirements sent back to the regional board were to develop an 
alternative water supply program to be built into the agricultural order as well as a way to deal with nitrate 
application limitations.                                                                                                          *CCRWQCB 
Alternative Water Supply (AWS) Program: State Water Board Order WQ 2023-081. This order requires the 
CCRWQB to reach and incorporate an agreement in which discharges provide short term and long term 
alternative water supplies for residents relying on groundwater in areas where the MCL for nitrate is exceeded 
due to agricultural operations, and consider experiences learned from other existing AWS programs. The 
development of this program is to include representatives of impacted communities, Environmental Justice 
Representatives, and Water Board Staff. 

Specific Projects in SLO County include the following:                                                                 *CCRWQB: 
Diablo Canyon Power Plant permitting and the update of their NPDE permit. The current permit is from 
the1990’s, PGE is applying for a 20 year extension. There will be a public workshop and public hearing 
regarding the NPDE permit.                                                   *CCRWQCB:  Desalination Projects. There is a 
current USBR grant for a desalination study. There is an existing facility in Santa Barbara County that was re-
permitted during the last drought and is operational. There is a proposed CalAM project on the Monterey 
Peninsula that would be in taking through slant wells in Marina, with brine discharge through a Monterey 

299



8E 
outfall into a Monterey Bay Marine Sanctuary. This will require a MDPS permit. Work is currently being done 
on a marine life mortality study. The Regional Water Board’s main focus is on the water quality impacts mainly 
through the discharge outfall at Monterey, the types of diffusers  and the impacts on marine life.                                    
*CCRWQB Enforcement Efforts: SLO County Airport entered into a voluntary settlement agreement for clean 
up and abatement of the impacts of PFAS. This includes monitoring of wells and treatment systems for those 
residents that were impacted by PFAS.                       The California Men’s Colony had persistent WWTP 
effluent violations and Water Treatment Plant filter backwash discharges. The Regional Board worked together 
with the US EPA on these enforcement issues, which resulted in a $1.6M penalty for the violations. 

CCRWQB Accomplishments:                                                                                                                 *Central 
Coast Drinking Water Well Testing Program.                                                                  *Grants Program: Oso 
Flaco Creek – Remediation of Pesticides ($799,998), Chorro and Los  Osos Creeks – Sediment Reduction 
($769,370). Rose Foundation Grants ($332,000); Cabrillo Estates -Sewer Connection Study, Los Osos Basin 
Management Committee – Lower Aquifer Monitoring Well, Oceano CSD – Well house project, San Miguel 
CSD- Water Supply Drought Resiliency Project, San Luis Obispo Beaver Brigade – Drinkable Rivers Project. 

Next, Wes Thompson from County Staff gave an update on State Water Policies. Draft policies are being 
developed to address opportunities for water and wastewater transfers or new contracts with the San Luis 
Obispo County Flood Control and Water Conservation District. Also participating in these policy updates that 
are being developed are the Statewide Sub-Contractors Advisory Committees as well as many other folks. The 
goal of the district is to maximize the contract with the State Department of Water Resources for the 25,000 acre 
feet of water that is efficient and aligned with state and local goals and priorities, at the same time balance the 
district’s obligation to existing contractors, and be in a position to use the surplus state water to meet local 
needs. 

The County Staff gave an update on the Central Coast Blue Project’s Award in the Proposition 1, Round 2 
Integrated Regional Water Management Implementation Grant.         IRWM & RWMG: IRWM is the Integrated 
Regional Water Management Program and is a program designed to help agencies work together to solve 
problems related to water supply environment, and other issues, and the state has provided funding via 
propositions over the years to do projects that have come from the collaboration of the agencies. RWMG is the 
Regional Water Management Group created by state law that advises and implements the IRWM and responds 
to grant opportunities. The RWMG takes recommendations to the Board of Supervisors via Staff, and 
implements the response to grant opportunities. Central Coast Blue has had a lot of challenges and difficulties. 
The County believes what the project is currently is significantly different from what was applied for and was 
awarded by the state, so the County is in a bit of a bind related to the administration of the grant and has a 
timeline that the project currently may not be able to meet. This puts the funds at risk, and Board is being asked 
to direct staff to see what projects are available that can meet the timeline. The Central Coast Blue Project was 
submitted as a multi-agency project, and the current project is reduced in its benefits in the number of wells. 
There is consideration of some changes that could be made in the grant agreement to either bring in projects or 
go through an amendment. There is a necessity to make a decision on how to move forward as construction of 
the project has to be completed by March 31, 2027. 

Time was running short for the meeting, so rather than run through all ten of the monthly Ongoing Updates, 
committee members were asked for any comments or questions they might have. 

300



8E 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:51pm. The next WRAC Meeting will be held after the summer break on  
September 3, 2025, at 1:30pm.  

Respectfully submitted, CCSD Director Karen Dean.                                              

 

301



8E 
North Coast Advisory Council June 18, 2025 meeting summary 
 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Christina Galloway at 6:00 PM, and a quorum was established.   A 
motion to approve the Agenda and the minutes from the May 21, 2025 meeting was made by Brian Glusovich 
and seconded by Chair Galloway.  Approval was unanimous. 
 
There was no Public Comment. 
 
CHP Commander Darren Gennuso prosented his monthly report from the Highway Patrol.  He provided 
relevant statistics for enforcement contacts and crashes in the Cambria area for April and May.  He also spoke to 
improving the CHP presence in the Cambria area to increase public safety and reduce crashes, noting that while 
the CHP was only in Cambria 10 times in April, this number increased to 36 in May, and in the future the 
Highway Patrol would be in our area at least once a day..  The Commander has suggested his officers increase 
their presence in all communities under the jurisdiction of the Templeton office which includes Cambria. He 
alluded to the recent No Kings Day protest on June 14th, stating that approximately 600 folks were present in 
Cambria, with about 1,000 in Atascadero, and everyone was well behaved, no problems occurred, and the right 
of freedom of speech was affirmed.  NCAC Board member Ted Key stated he believed the estimate for No 
Kings Day in Cambria was possibly more like 1200.  In addition, in being involved with road cleanup on 
Highway 46, Mr Key expressed his disappointment as to the amount of trash people are leaving behind at 
various turnouts.  Commander Gennuso said he’d encourage his officers to be alert to behaviors such as this, 
and thanked Mr Key for his service. 
 
County Supervisor Bruce Gibson began his report with the comment, “the No Kings demonstrations were 
awesome up and down this county, and it was so impressive to see the energy out on the street….”.  He then 
spoke to the approval of the 2025-26 County Budget that took place at the June 9th and June 16th meetings, and 
doing so was most challenging, especially as “revenue is not going up as fast as expenses…”, and that several 
dozen County positions were eliminated, but many employees were able to find other jobs within the County 
organization.  Also, he went into some detail as to the work the consulting firm KPNG has been doing in 
providing a thorough overview of the efficiency of County Health and Human Services, the largest expense in 
the County Budget.  As for Cambria, on June 17th the Board allotted $1.3 million for the Cambria Palms 
Apartments on Schoolhouse Lane under the oversight of People’s Self Help Housing that will eventually 
provide some much needed low income affordable housing for our community.  
 
At this point Chair Galloway lost contact with the meeting, and CCSD General Manager Matt McElhenie 
offered to temporarily fill in.  Kermit Johansson then spoke to the issue of roadways and pedestrian pathways 
here in Cambria, with Supervisor Gibson commenting on the financial cost of making improvements in this 
area.  Jeff Bloom also inquired as to where funding is gotten for County road maintenance. 
 
At this point Supervising Long Range County Planner Schani Siong spoke for about 15 minutes, providing an 
update on two of the County’s most recent housing projects that are designed to address affordable housing in 
all income ranges.  She spoke to two topics; multi family development housing standards, and a new voluntary 
Regional Housing Incentive Program.  Both will be discussed in public hearings over the next couple of 
months.  She stated that multi family housing is “pretty challenging” and requires an update to standards set 
years ago.  And while multi family housing concerns will be addressed in both inland and in the coastal zone, 

302



8E 
the Housing Incentive Program will only be implemented in inland areas.  Funding for this program that 
involves private builders comes from both State and federal sources, and presently there are, “750 affordable 
housing units in the pipeline waiting to be funded…to get built”.   In conclusion, she voiced her enthusiasm for 
this pilot project.  Valerie Carr thanked Schani for her presentation, and efforts and developing affordable 
housing, but then expressed her concerns over losing her homeowners insurance, that her new insurance equals 
the cost of her property taxes, neighbors in similar situations are thinking of selling their homes, and she 
wonders who is paying for the proposed low income affordable housing.  Schani stated that monies for 
affordable housing comes from private funding and not property taxes. 
 
At this point Chair Galloway rejoined the meeting via her iPhone, thanked Schani for her presentation, and 
reclaimed her duties as Chair. 
 
There was no report from the Fire Safe Focus Group. 
 
Under Land Use, the discussion began regarding the planned demolition of the home at 2675 Sherwood.  She 
provided much detail on the issue, including the removal of trees, the much larger structure to be built, the 
denial of the appeal by the NCAC Land Use Committee to the Board of Supervisors to deny the project, and the 
property owner wanting to still have the new house to be built ultimately again being a vacation rental.  A 
lengthy exchange of thoughts and concerns by members of the Council then took place, including the purpose 
of NCAC and Land Use, and should the appeal on the project be forwarded to the CA Coastal 
Commission.  There was also brief input from Supervisor Gibson’s assistant Blake Fixler and Dane Mueller 
from County Planning on this issue.  Ultimately a motion to appeal the destruction of the home on Sherwood to 
the Coastal Commission was made by Kermit Johansson, seconded by Valerie Carr, and unanimously approved 
by the Council. 
 
After a short break, CCSD General Manager McElhenie provided his report, starting with announcing the East 
Ranch Community Park restroom is finally open.  He also informed everyone that the installation and upgrading 
of the towns water meters is complete two months early due to the very efficient efforts of the hired 
contractor.  The result is a major improvement as to the use of staff time and financial savings.  He spoke to the 
issue of the Fire Hazard Fuel Reduction program, the need for defensible space, the information being provided 
to the pubic on this subject, and the upcoming deadline regarding weed abatement throughout the town.  He also 
provided detailed answers to concerns expressed by various community members on the above topics. 
 
CCSD Director Harry Farmer presented information from the Board of Directors meeting on June 12th 
provided by Program Manager Tristan Reaper as to the Annual Water Shortage Assessment that the District 
addresses every year.  Mr Reaper stated even with the lower than normal rainfall of the past rainy season, the 
rain was spread out enough that creek flow in San Simeon Creek and the adjacent well levels had remained 
somewhat adequate.  Nevertheless, with well levels now continuing to decline, the intention is to implement 
Stage Two of the Six Stage Water Shortage program in August of this year, encouraging a reduction of water use 
of about 5% per month until the rainy season begins sometime in the Fall.  Also, if less than adequate rainfall 
continues into next year, it’s possible the Water Reclamation Facility could be started up for emergency use only 
in late Summer or early Fall of 2026. 
 
Fire Chief Michael Burkey then provided his monthly report, beginning with the statistics from May.  Most 

303



8E 
notable was that to date this year the Department has had 438 total calls versus 399 for the previous year, and, 
"June is starting off as a very, very busy month already…”.  He added that in May Department staff focused 
honing their skills on wild land out of county responses as well as ocean rescue, including their annual swim 
test.  He reported that the Fire Fighter Annual Fundraiser was “successful” and “overwhelming”, and the 
amount of support they received from the community was, “absolutely incredible”.  Tina Dickason called in to 
thank the Chief and his Department for the recent Chili Cook Off fundraiser to benefit the Skatepark that was 
much appreciated. Cecelia Montalvo also called to inquire as to the apparent loss of three firefighters.  Chief 
Burkey said that these positions were made available due to grant funding which would no longer be available 
as of July.  GM McElhenie provided additional information on this concern, and Chief Burkey commented on 
the recently initiated Community Outreach program, with members of the public becoming more involved with 
defensible space and weed abatement.   Board members Jeff Bloom and Mr Johansson also inquired about and 
elaborated on home owner insurance issues facing our area, and the various rating systems used by the 
insurance companies. 
 
CCHD Board member Cecelia Montalvo updated us on the phased project improvements at CCHD 
headquarters and EMT living conditions, starting with the upcoming demolition of an outdated portion of the 
buildings allowing for more parking availability.  She also piggybacked on what Chief Burkey had said earlier, 
that call volume is up over last year, yet despite this increase call response continues to be under ten minutes. 
 
Kermit Johansson then spoke to his communication with Public Works, County Roads and Cal Trans.  To sum 
up, he unfortunately informed us that basically there is no funding available for local road improvements. 
 
Finally, Karen Christman informed us she was told that the information she provided on the Sherwood Housing 
Appeal on social media was viewed over 2,000 times, and what Brain Glusovich posted on this was seen over 
1,300 times, indicated how very interested citizens of our community are on this issue. 
 
After words of thanks and appreciation, the meeting was adjourned by Chair Gallowayat 8:00 PM 
 
The next NCAC monthly meeting will be on Wednesday, July 17th at 6PM via Zoom. 
 
This summary was written and submitted by CCSD Director and NCAC liaison Harry Farmer. 
 
 

304




